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Directors’ report 

About Norwegian Property 
The commercial real estate company Norwegian 
Property ASA owned 30 commercial properties in 
Norway as at 31 December 2023. All of them are 
located in the Oslo region. 

The market value of the group’s property portfolio 
was NOK 23.9 billion as at 31 December 2023. These 
properties primarily comprise office premises with 
associated warehousing and car parks as well as 
retail and restaurant space. The group has a major 
investment in the residential development company 
Nordr. Norwegian Property also has a joint venture  
which is related to a development project in 
Stavanger. 

The business is organised in the parent company 
Norwegian Property ASA with subsidiaries. With its 
head office at Aker Brygge in Oslo, the group had 64 
employees as at 31 December 2023. Of the 
employees, 33 are employed in the commercial real 
estate business and 31 are caretakers and other 
operational staff at the properties. 

Norwegian Property’s articles of association states: 
“The Company operates in management, 
acquisitions, sales and development of real estate 
and infrastructure, including participation in other 
companies and through trading and investment in 
interest/units and securities as well as businesses 
which are related to such.” 

The business in 2023 
Market and letting 

Letting market 

Office vacancy 
Office vacancy in Oslo is still low, and below the 
historical average, largely due to strong employment 
growth and limited supply for new office space. 
Going forward, in the same way as in 2023, we 
expect a moderate increase in office vacancies. 

Highlights in 2023 

Major investment in the property portfolio 

• The acquisition of the Telegrafen property in 
central Oslo was completed in 2023. The 
property is approx. 25,000 sqm, newly 
renovated and the offices are fully let. 
 

• Norwegian Property will continue its efforts to 
expand and develop its business through 
additional acquisitions and by pursuing long-
term development opportunities in the 
existing portfolio. 

Norwegian Property's rental income is growing 
significantly and the group continues to deliver 
strong results from its operations 

• Following new and improved leases, CPI 
adjustments at the start of the year and the 
expansion of the property portfolio rental 
income increased by 9.4 per cent compared 
with last year.  
 

• Total annual rental income (run rate) from the 
company’s property portfolio increased by 
14.0 per cent during the year.  
 

• Operating profit before value adjustments 
and joint ventures improved by 9.4 per cent. 
 

• Refinancing of all 2024 debt maturities were 
completed in 2023. Norwegian Property’s 
financial position is sound, with a high equity 
ratio and a healthy loan-to-value ratio. 

 
• Equity issue of NOK 500 million in 2023 as 

part of the financing of the Telegrafen 
property acquisition. 

 
• Dividends totalling NOK 322 million were paid 

out in 2023 (NOK 0.51 per share). 
 

 

pp://General%20Data/Description%20of%20nature%20of%20entity's%20operations%20and%20principal%20activities%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d?allowhtml=false
pp://General%20Data/Name%20of%20parent%20entity%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d?allowhtml=false
pp://General%20Data/Name%20of%20parent%20entity%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d?allowhtml=false
pp://General%20Data/Domicile%20of%20entity%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d?allowhtml=false
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High construction costs and increased yields have 
led to low construction activity and little new office 
space in Oslo. The supply of office space is expected 
to be limited in 2024. Although larger volumes will 
be supplied in 2025, mainly from a few large 
projects, the total volume supplied to the market in 
the years from 2024 to 2026 will probably be well 
below what has been normal over time. From 2027, 
several new office projects can potentially be 
completed and contribute to a larger supply side. 

Office vacancy in Oslo was 6.1 per cent overall at the 
end of 2023 (5.5 per cent at the start of the year), 
10.0 per cent in Nydalen (11.1 per cent) and 4.9 per 
cent in the city centre (4.0 per cent). Office vacancy 
at Fornebu was 9.4 per cent at the end of 2023 (8.8 
per cent). 

Office rents 
Office rents have increased in 2023 for all areas 
where Norwegian Property operates. The main 
drivers for the increase are limited access to office 
space, growth for office-intensive businesses and 
high inflation levels.  

Rental prices are expected to level off at high levels 
going forward, helped by the low supply side in the 
rental market. 

Retail 
Over time, physical retail has faced challenges 
related to e-commerce, from both domestic and 
international platforms. Norwegian Property’s 
destination at Aker Brygge in Oslo has a significant 
element of restaurants (half of the ground floor run-
rate) in addition to retail and has had a more positive 
development than the general retail market. 
Turnover based rent related to the company’s retail 
and restaurant tenants at Aker Brygge was 
increasing pre-COVID-19, driven first and foremost 
by restaurant revenues. The positive development 
for these segments has continued post-COVID-19. 
Throughout the last year, the retail and restaurant 
industry has faced new challenges from increased 
interest rates, high inflation and expectations of 
generally reduced consumer consumption. 

The retail and restaurant businesses at Hasle has 
been established during the COVID-19 period. The 
turnover shows significant growth. 

Letting activity 
New and renegotiated leases were signed in 2023 
with an annual rental uplift totalling NOK 87 million 
(NOK 74 million). Expired leases totalled NOK 51 
million (NOK 44 million). Therefore, net letting came 
to NOK 36 million (NOK 30 million).  

New and renegotiated lease agreements in the year 
have in addition to the KPI adjustments resulted in a 
substantial revenue uplift. The total annual rental 
income (run rate) from the company’s property 
portfolio increased by 14 per cent during the year 
and was NOK 1,295 billion by the end of the year 
(NOK 1,136 billion). 

Reported rental income has increased from year to 
year in recent years and the increase from last year 
amounts to 9.4 per cent. 

Overall financial vacancy in the property portfolio 
totalled 4.7 per cent as at 31 December 2023 (5.9 per 
cent), which was largely related to the properties at 
Snarøyveien in Fornebu and Sandakerveien 138/140 
in Nydalen. A significant proportion of the vacant 
premises are being refurbished for leases already 
entered into as well as preparation for future letting.  

The weighted average remaining duration of the 
leases increased from 5.1 to 5.3 years in 2023. 

Financing 

Financing market 
The financing market for the property sector has 
been challenging over the past year, with rising 
market interest rates and margins as well as limited 
access to capital from banks and bond investors. 

The inflation has been high in 2023. Norges Bank 
hiked the interest rate to 4.5 per cent in December 
2023, and they have stated that the interest rate will 
remain at that level for some time as inflation is still 
high. 

Financing activities 
The group’s net LTV ratio related to the fair value of 
investment properties and investments in joint 
ventures is 50.4 per cent (43.4 per cent). Bonds 
accounted for 40 per cent (66 per cent) of its 
borrowings as at 31 December 2023. This was in 
addition to 33 per cent related to bilateral loans (29 
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per cent) and 27 per cent related to bank facilities (21 
per cent). 

The refinancing of all 2024 debt maturities were 
completed in 2023. New loan facilities with a total 
limit of NOK 4,005 million have been established in 
collaboration with relationship banks, and a new 
NOK 1 billion green bond has been established 
related to the acquisition of Telegrafen. Loans 
maturing in 2024 amount to NOK 3,215 million, and 
the available unused credit facilities amount to NOK 
3,086 million at year-end. 

Floating interest rates and margins have increased in 
2023. Average interest rates increased from 3.48 per 
cent to 4.39 per cent and average margins increased 
from 1.36 per cent to 1.53 per cent during the year. 
As at 31 December 2023, 63.9 per cent (70.1 per 
cent) of the group’s interest-bearing debt was 
covered by interest-rate hedges with an average 
term of 4.8 years (5.6 years). 

Interest-bearing debt in the balance sheet totalled 
NOK 13,988 million as at 31 December 2023 (NOK 
12,186 million), with non-current interest-bearing 
debt accounting for NOK 10,778 million and current 
interest-bearing debt for NOK 3,211 million. 

NOK 5.6 billion of the company's bonds are listed on 
the Oslo Stock Exchange. 

Property transactions 

Transaction market 
During 2022, increasing interest rates and limited 
access to financing slowed down the property 
transaction market, after several years with a high 
level of activity at sharp yield levels. In 2023, there 
was significantly reduced activity in the Norwegian 
transaction market, with a volume reduction of 50 
per cent compared to the previous year. 

It is expected that the transaction market will 
improve during 2024, given that the interest rate 
peak has been passed and the access to financing 
improves. 

The prime yield for the Oslo CBD at the end of 2023 
is estimated to be 4.75 per cent, up from 3.75-4.00 
per cent at the end of last year. 

Transactions conducted 
Norwegian Property has a strategy to strengthen the 
portfolio of properties in its main priority areas in the 
Oslo region by the acquisition of additional 
properties and by further developing the existing 
property portfolio. The strategy to strengthen the 
portfolio is flexible in order to adapt to market 
opportunities as they arise. 

The acquisition of the Telegrafen property in central 
Oslo was completed in 2023. The property is approx. 
25,000 sqm, newly renovated and the offices are fully 
let. Norwegian Property has three clear geographical 
areas of focus: Oslo CBD, Nydalen and Fornebu, and 
the acquisition of the Telegrafen property is a 
strategically important purchase for Norwegian 
Property that entails an increased investment in the 
CBD. 

Investment in Nordr 

Norwegian Property owns Nordr as a joint venture 
together with Fredensborg and Union Real Estate 
Fund III. At the end of 2023, Nordr had 1,590 flats 
under construction, including tenant owned units, 
and a land bank of 13,300 units in Norway and 
Sweden. The land bank is mainly located in the 
largest Norwegian and Swedish cities, with an 
emphasis on eastern Norway and the extended 
Stockholm capital region in Sweden. Nordr’s 
business consists of both wholly owned and partly 
owned plots and projects. 

Norwegian Property’s share of the net loss relating to 
Nordr was NOK 55 million for 2023 (profit of NOK 35 
million). Project related write-downs and one-off 
costs have negatively affected the share of the net 
result from Nordr in 2023. 

During 2023, sales agreements were entered into 
regarding 444 (688) residential units. The 
construction started on 419 (1,002) units, and a total 
of 1,008 (956) units were delivered. A total of 966 
residential units are expected to be completed 
during 2024. 

Norwegian Property’s share of net assets in the 
balance sheet as at 31 December 2023 was NOK 930 
million. Independent appraisers have valued all the 
plots in the portfolio of Nordr, and there has been a 
substantial increase in the values compared to the 
values at the time of the acquisition in 2020. The 
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NOK 1.1 billion value uplift increases the EPRA NAV 
metrics for Norwegian Property but does not affect 
the book value of the investment. 

Strategic goals 
Competitive return with balanced risk 

Norwegian Property has a goal of paying 30-50 per 
cent of its ordinary profit after tax, but before fair-
value adjustments, as a dividend to its shareholders. 
Before a dividend is determined, an assessment will 
be made of the group’s financial position and 
prospects, including the possible increased capital 
requirements when investing in properties and 
changes to the income base when properties are 
sold. 

High tenant satisfaction 
Norwegian Property’s vision is to create meeting 
places which encourage engagement and provide 
favourable conditions for developing interpersonal 
relationships. The group works to ensure a high level 
of tenant satisfaction. That contributes in turn to a 
good reputation and is important for retaining 
existing tenants and attracting new ones. 

Environmental improvements in line 
with the best in the industry 
Corporate environmental and social responsibility is 
broadly defined and includes clearly defined targets 
for measures to protect the environment as well as 
high aesthetic standards for buildings and outside 
areas in the local environment. The group’s strategy 
and goals are outlined in the report on corporate 
social responsibility. 

Investment strategy  
Norwegian Property has an investment strategy with 
the emphasis placed on the following main 
parameters: 

- leading player for office and associated 
commercial property in selected areas of 
the Oslo region 

- prioritise properties close to public 
transport hubs, and seek to create natural 
property clusters in the group’s priority 
areas 

- seek to have 5 to 15 per cent of the 
portfolio’s area under development over 
time 

- active management of the portfolio 
through transactions, including the 
purchase of properties with value 
development potential.  
 

Financing strategy  
Norwegian Property’s ambition is to deliver a 
competitive return over time with a balanced 
financial risk profile. The main parameters of its 
financial strategy are:  

- a goal that the LTV ratio will be a maximum 
of 45-55 per cent of the total value of the 
group’s investment properties over time  

- to base borrowing on long-term 
relationships with banks and other players 
pursuing a long-term strategy in the 
Norwegian property market 

- to seek to diversify funding sources and the 
maturity structure to reduce refinancing 
risk 

- an ambition to achieve a stable 
development in cash flow which requires a 
relatively high level of interest-rate hedging, 
where such hedging will be a minimum of 
50 per cent of the group’s interest-bearing 
debt, with the term of the hedging 
weighted against the term of the leases 
while also being spread over the period to 
avoid excessive exposure at specific points 
in time. 
 

Risk and risk management 
Through its activities, Norwegian Property manages 
major financial assets which are exposed to 
substantial risk factors, such as development 
projects, interest rates and the letting market. The 
management model is based on an appropriate 
delegation of responsibility for profits, clearly 
defined operational parameters and internal control. 

Overall targets are established and further refined 
through the continuous updating of the group’s 
strategy. On the basis of this strategy, the values and 
the ethical guidelines, an overall management 
instruction has been established with the 
specification of authorities for delegating 
responsibility to defined roles in the organisation. 
Guidelines have, furthermore, been established for 
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managing and handling risk in the most important 
risk areas, such as operations and finance. Based on 
these overall guidelines, governing processes and 
routines have been established for the day-to-day 
management of the group. The board regularly 
reviews the group’s formal documents. 

The administration prepares periodic reports which 
are reviewed at board meetings. These reports are 
based on the management reviews of the various 
parts of the business, and they contain an update of 
the status in relation to targets, important 
operational conditions, financial conditions and a 
description of the status of risk areas. Quarterly 
financial reports are also prepared and then 
reviewed by the audit committee ahead of the board 
meeting. In connection with the presentation of the 
interim and annual financial statements, the 
executive management prepares estimates and 
makes assumptions about the future. The 
accounting estimates are subject to uncertainty. 
Estimates and assumptions with the greatest 
potential effect on book values in future periods are 
related to investment property.  

The group has taken out insurance with an insurance 
company for the directors and officers of all group 
companies for their possible liability to the company 
and third parties. The sum insured amounts to NOK 
100 million per claim and in total during the year. 

Norwegian Property assesses risk on an ongoing 
basis as part of the daily operations. A 
comprehensive annual review of the risks associated 
with the group is carried out in collaboration with all 
the relevant levels of the organisation. Each risk 
factor is described and presented with the possible 
negative outcomes. The analysis of the risk factors 
includes the following main groups of risks. 

Financial risks  
The group’s financial risks primarily relate to 
changes in equity as a result of adjustments to the 
value of the property portfolio, the effect of interest-
rate changes on profits and liquidity, liquidity risk 
and profit effects when refinancing debt and 
implementing major projects.  

Efforts are made to manage the effect of interest-
rate changes on profits and liquidity through 
hedging. As at 31 December 2023, 63.9 per cent 
(70.1 per cent) of the group’s interest-bearing debt 

was covered by interest-rate hedges with an average 
term of 4.8 years (5.6 years). Fluctuations in short- 
and long-term market interest rates will, therefore, 
have a limited impact on the group’s interest 
expenses before changes in the value of derivatives. 
All the group’s interest-rate swaps are used as 
economic hedges. Hedge accounting is not applied. 

The group’s credit facilities incorporate financial 
covenants related to the interest cover ratio and the 
LTV ratio. Norwegian Property was in compliance 
with these and other conditions in the credit 
agreements related to its liabilities as at 31 
December 2023. 

Market risk 
Norwegian Property is exposed to changes in market 
rents, vacancy in the portfolio, turnover-based rents 
and the rate of inflation. The group has a significant 
proportion of long-term leases. The commercial 
property leases provide fixed revenues over their 
term. The majority of the leases are fully adjusted for 
changes in the consumer price index (CPI). 

Increases in market interest rates can lead to 
increased yield levels for the group’s properties, 
which in turn can affect the valuations of the 
properties. 

Project risk 
Generally speaking, major construction projects 
may involve risk relating to such aspects as the 
future letting ratio and level of rents for converted 
areas, cost overruns on procurement and planning, 
delays, delivery shortfalls and market developments.  

Credit risk  

Norwegian Property’s portfolio of office properties is 
characterised by high quality, central locations and a 
financially sound and diversified set of tenants. Bad 
debts have been limited in recent years. Tenants of 
the group’s office properties normally pay rent 
quarterly in advance. In addition, most leases 
require security for rent payments in the form of 
either a deposit account containing a sum 
equivalent to three to six months of rent or a bank 
guarantee. The group checks the credit rating and 
history of new tenants. As a result, the risk of direct 
losses from defaults or payment problems is limited 
and primarily relates to the re-letting of premises. 
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Liquidity risk  

The group’s goal is to have sufficient liquidity and 
credit facilities to meet its obligations, including 
existing development projects. It also seeks to 
maintain a sensible level of liquidity to meet 
unexpected commitments. The financing strategy 
aims to maintain flexibility in the market and to cope 
with fluctuations in rental income. Liquidity should 
be secured by unused revolving credits and 
overdraft facilities rather than bank deposits. 

Norwegian Property has a high level of hedging 
against fluctuations in market interest rates, which 
reduces the need for liquidity to meet unexpected 
commitments in these areas. Other liquidity risk 
relates first and foremost to servicing instalments on 
and redemption of loans. The group generates a 
positive cash flow from operations. 

As at 31 December, the group had an interest-
bearing debt of NOK 13,988 million (NOK 12,186 
million). The remaining term of the debt was 2.8 
years (3.8 years). Debt maturing and instalments 
due during 2024 are recognised as current liabilities 
in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 
2023. At the same date, the group had a liquidity 
reserve including undrawn borrowing facilities of 
NOK 3,086 million (NOK 1,157 million). 

The group seeks at all times to maintain a liquidity 
buffer tailored to the redemption profile of its debt 
and the ongoing short-term fluctuations in its 
requirements for working capital as well as the 
requirements which follow from current and planned 
projects being pursued by the group at any given 
time.  

Social and governance risk 

Social and governance risks are related to the risks 
related to human rights, decent working-conditions, 
equality and non-discrimination among employees, 
non-discrimination of people with disabilities in 
properties and outdoor areas and corruption. 

The group has worked to uncover risks within the 
social and governance areas of sustainability. These 
are described in more detail in the corporate 
governance report and the sustainability report. 

Climate risk 

Physical climate risk is, for example, related to 
increased precipitation and higher sea levels. 
Climate transition risk is related to the demand for 
environmentally-friendly premises, environmental 
requirements from investors/banks, insurance, 
technological risk, reputational risk and increased 
CO2 taxes. 

Climate risks are described in more detail in the 
sustainability report and the risk and risk 
management overview. 

Group accounts 
The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and consistent 
accounting principles are applied to all the periods 
presented. 

Going concern assumption 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Norwegian 
Accounting Act, the board confirms that the going 
concern assumption is realistic. The financial 
statements for 2023 have been prepared on that 
basis. 

Income statement  

Revenues 

Total rental income amounted to NOK 1,110 million 
for 2023, which is up from NOK 1,014 million in 2022. 

Operating expenses 
Property-related operational expenses totalled NOK 
83 million (NOK 75 million). Other property-related 
expenses came to NOK 74 million (NOK 69 million). 
Administrative owner expenses were NOK 68 million 
(NOK 62 million). 
 
No costs related to research and development 
activities were recognised in the financial statements 
for either 2023 or 2022. 

Share of profit in joint ventures 
The share of profit from joint ventures was negative 
at NOK 56 million (profit of NOK 34 million), mainly 
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related to Norwegian Property’s share of the net 
profit for Nordr. 

Operating profit before fair-value 
adjustments 
Operating profit before fair-value adjustments was 
NOK 830 million (NOK 844 million).  

Net realised financial items 
Financial income, which consists largely of interest 
income, totalled NOK 42 million (NOK 17 million). 
Financial expenses, primarily interest expenses and 
other costs related to the group’s financing, were 
NOK 484 million (NOK 376 million). 
 
Profit before income tax and value 
adjustments 
Profit before tax and fair-value changes came to 
NOK 388 million compared with NOK 485 million for 
2022. 

Fair-value changes of investment 
property and interest-rate derivatives 
Negative fair-value changes to the group’s property 
portfolio of 11.6 per cent totalled NOK 3,150 million in 
2023 (NOK 155 million), related to increased yield 
levels for the company’s properties. The negative 
changes are somewhat offset by improved market 
rents as well as new and improved leases. 

The fair-value adjustment for interest-rate derivatives 
showed a negative change of NOK 4 million (positive 
change of NOK 172 million). 

Net profit 
Profit before tax was negative at NOK 2,766 million 
(positive of NOK 503 million). The reduction in the 
provision for deferred tax was NOK 418 million in 
2023 (increase of NOK 207 million). 

Cash flow 

Net cash flow from operating activities was NOK 590 
million (NOK 457 million). Operating profit before 
tax and fair-value adjustments came to NOK 485 
million in 2023. The difference compared with net 
cash flow from operating activities relates to the 
profit from joint ventures and to changes to working 
capital items. 

Net cash flow from investing activities was negative 
at NOK 2,444 million (NOK 259 million). The capital 
spendings in 2023 of NOK 2,033 million is related to 
the acquisition of the Telegrafen property the tenant 
adaptations for new and renegotiated leases as well 
as ongoing operational investments. Other investing 
activities include dividends from joint ventures and 
changes in interest-bearing receivables (net 
negative change of NOK 411 million). 

Net cash flow from financial activities in 2023 was 
positive at NOK 1,994 million (NOK 327 million). The 
net increase of interest-bearing debt came to NOK 
1,816 million. A capital increase of NOK 500 million 
was carried out as well as dividend payments of NOK 
322 million. 

The net increase in cash and cash equivalents was 
NOK 141 million (reduction of NOK 129 million). 

Balance sheet and liquidity 

The carrying amount of the group’s total assets in 
the balance sheet was NOK 26,111 million (NOK 
26,911 million), with investment property accounting 
for NOK 23,518 million (NOK 24,859 million) and 
properties used by the owner for NOK 145 million 
(NOK 109 million). Non-current receivables 
amounted to NOK 231 million (NOK 233 million), 
related to the rental guarantee provided by the seller 
of the property at Snarøyveien 30. Investment in joint 
ventures was NOK 933 million (NOK 1,062 million). 

The group held NOK 326 million (NOK 185 million) in 
cash and cash equivalents. In addition, the group 
had unused drawing rights of NOK 3,086 million 
(NOK 1,157 million). 

Total interest-bearing liabilities in the balance sheet 
came to NOK 13,988 million (NOK 12,186 million), 
with non-current interest-bearing liabilities totalling 
NOK 10,778 million (NOK 10,352 million) and current 
interest-bearing liabilities amounting to NOK 3,211 
million (NOK 1,834 million). Current interest-bearing 
debt as at 31 December 2023 relates to facilities 
maturing in 2024. 

The average interest rate for the group’s loans 
(including payments for interest-rate derivatives) 
amounted to 4.39 per cent as at 31 December 2023 
(3.48 per cent), while the interest-rate margin 
averaged 1.53 per cent (1.36 per cent). The 
remaining term to maturity for interest-bearing debt 
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was 2.8 years (3.8 years). Financial derivatives 
related to interest hedging accounted for a net asset 
item of NOK 141 million (NOK 145 million). The 
remaining term to maturity for the derivatives was 
4.8 years (5.6 years). 

Equity as at 31 December totalled NOK 10,412 million 
(NOK 12,562 million), representing an equity ratio of 
39.9 per cent (46.7 per cent). Carried equity per 
share was NOK 16.18 (NOK 19.52). 

Valuation of the properties  

The group’s valuation process is based on quarterly 
external valuations, supplemented by internal 
analyses where the group makes an assessment and 
determines whether the external valuations provide 
an accurate picture of the fair value of the 
investment properties. Based on this process, all the 
properties were valued on 31 December 2023 by two 
independent professional specialists. Cushman & 
Wakefield and Akershus Eiendom have each 
prepared a valuation of all the properties. An average 
of these valuations is used as the basis for 
recognising the investment properties at fair value as 
at 31 December 2023. The valuation models used for 
these assessments are based on discounting cash 
flows related to existing leases and the value of 
market rents after the expiry of existing leases. 
Individual assessments of current expenses, 
upgrading costs and the risk of vacancy are made on 
a property-by-property basis.  

The executive management and the board have 
made independent assessments of parameters 
which affect the value of the group’s properties, 
including developments in interest rates, market 
rents, occupancy, the yield level on property 
transactions and the quality of the properties. The 
conclusion is that the external valuations can be 
used as a basis for assessing the fair value of the 
properties. Total market value of the group’s 
property portfolio was NOK 23,894 million as at 31 
December 2023 (NOK 25,201 million).  

Events after the balance sheet 
date 
In the fourth quarter of 2023, Norwegian Property 
invested in an unlisted junior bond loan amounting 
to NOK 475 million with ML 33 Holding AS as the 
borrower. ML 33 Holding AS owns the shares in the 

company Martin Linges vei 33 AS that owns the 
property at Martin Linges vei 33 on Fornebu. The 
shares in ML 33 Holding AS are pledged as security 
for the junior bond loan. In the first quarter of 2024, 
the borrower is in breach of the terms of the loan 
agreement. Norwegian Property has taken over all 
the shares in ML 33 Holding AS on 18 March 2024. 
Norwegian Property guarantees for an equity issue of 
NOK 500 million in ML 33 Holding AS. The former 
shareholders in the company are given the 
opportunity to subscribe for up to 20 percent of the 
equity issue. The transaction in 2024 is considered 
not to require any adjustments to the financial 
statements as of 31 December 2023. 

In accordance with the mandate from the AGM in 
2023, the board resolved on 1 February 2024 that a 
dividend of NOK 0.13 per share will be paid on the 
basis of the accounts as at 31 December 2023. 

No other significant incidents since 31 December 
2023 provide information concerning the conditions 
which existed at the balance sheet date. 

Parent company accounts and 
allocation of net profit 
The parent company, Norwegian Property ASA, 
made a net loss of NOK 6 million in 2023 (profit of 
NOK 145 million). 

The board proposes that the net loss of NOK 6 
million and the provision of NOK 85 million for the 
dividend are allocated to and from the share 
premium respectively as presented in the annual 
accounts. 

Corporate social responsibility 
and corporate governance 
The group has prepared a sustainability report 
pursuant to section 3-3c of the Norwegian 
Accounting Act. The report includes reporting duties 
pursuant to Norway’s Gender Equality and 
Discrimination Act as well as the Transparency Act.  

A new Act on Sustainable Finance was introduced 
with effect from 1 January 2023. The EU taxonomy is 
a classification system, establishing a list of 
environmentally sustainable economic activities. 
Expected effects of the EU taxonomy is commented 
on in the sustainability report. 
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A separate presentation on corporate governance 
has also been prepared to cover the group’s 
principles and practice in this area, pursuant to 
section 3-3b of the Accounting Act. 

The 2023 AGM 
The annual general meeting was held on 21 April 
2023. All resolutions were adopted as proposed in 
the notice of the meeting. The AGM elected Bjørn 
Henningsen as the chair of the board. Kathrine 
Astrup Fredriksen, Cecilie Astrup Fredriksen and 
Lars Erich Nilsen were elected as directors. 

Shareholders 

As of December 31, 2023, Norwegian Property ASA 
has a share capital of NOK 331,411,054 divided into 
649,825,596 shares, each with a par value of NOK 
0.51. Norwegian Property ASA owns 6,250,000 
treasury shares. Geveran Trading Co. Ltd. owns the 
remaining 643,575,596 shares in the company. 

An equity issue of NOK 500 million were carried 
out in 2023 as part of the financing of the 
Telegrafen property acquisition. The share capital 
was increased by NOK 6,498,255, from NOK 
324,912,798 to NOK 331,411,054, by increasing the 
nominal value of each of the issued shares by NOK 
0.01, from NOK 0.50 to NOK 0.51. No new shares 
were issued. 

Outlook 
The supply of new office capacity is limited due to 
few new builds have commenced in the last couple 
of years. Given today’s building cost, in combination 
with current rent levels and yields, not many projects 
will be commenced. Hence, there will be a good 
demand for high quality office space and the rents 
levels will continue to rise. 
 
Both current- and future capital structure in 
Norwegian Property is of high importance. Capital is 

now available from both the bond market and from 
banks. Margins in the bond market have tightened 
lately, and the bond market again starts to be 
competitive. Norwegian Property has a strong 
financial position and has a strategy for growth in its 
core commercial property business. Opportunities 
in other property segments will also be 
contemplated given an attractive risk/return.  
 
In 2023, the Telegrafen property in central Oslo was 
acquired, while the Martin Linges vei 33 property at 
Fornebu has been taken over in 2024. Norwegian 
Property will continue its efforts to expand and 
develop its business through additional acquisitions 
and by pursuing several interesting long-term 
development opportunities in the existing property 
portfolio. 
 
The property values have shown negative 
development since mid-2022 in a more troubled 
market with rising interest rates, inflation and 
worrying international geopolitical developments. 
Norwegian Property’s financial position is sound, 
with a high equity ratio and a healthy loan-to-value 
ratio. The company has a highly diversified portfolio 
of tenants in the public sector and various private 
business segments. This contributes to the 
company being well positioned to handle the 
uncertainty with a continued focus on the strategy of 
further expanding and developing the business. 
 
 
 
Oslo, 2 April 2024 
Norwegian Property ASA 
 
 

pp://General%20Data/Legal%20form%20of%20entity%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d?allowhtml=false
pp://General%20Data/Name%20of%20ultimate%20parent%20of%20group%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d?allowhtml=false


Norwegian Property ASA  Annual report 2023 
 

Annual group accounts  25 

Annual group accounts 

Consolidated income statement 1 Jan-31 Dec 
(Amounts in NOK million) Note 2023 2022 

Rental income for commercial property 15, 16               1,109.6                1,014.4  

Revenues                 1,109.6                1,014.4  

Property-related operational expenses 18                  (82.5)                  (73.8) 

Other property-related expenses 18                  (73.9)                  (68.8) 

Total property-related expenses                  (156.4)                (142.6) 

Administrative expenses 18, 19                  (67.5)                   (62.1) 

Total operating expenses                  (224.0)                (204.7) 

Share of profit in joint ventures 8                  (55.8)                    33.8  

Operating profit before value adjustments                   829.8                  843.5  

Change in fair value of investment property and rental guarantee 6             (3,150.3)                (154.7) 

Operating profit              (2,320.4)                 688.8  

Financial income 9, 17                    42.3                     17.2  

Financial expenses 9, 17                (483.9)                (375.6) 

Net financial items                  (441.6)                (358.4) 

Change in fair value of interest derivatives 9, 10                    (3.9)                  172.2  

Net financial items                 (445.4)                (186.2) 

Profit before income tax              (2,765.8)                  502.5  

Income tax 14                  417.8                 (206.6) 

Profit for the year               (2,348.1)                  295.9  

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests                          -                           -    

Profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company               (2,348.1)                  295.9  

Basic earnings per share attributable to parent company shareholders (amounts in NOK) 21                  (3.65)                   0.46  

Diluted earnings per share attributable to parent company shareholders (amounts in 
NOK) 

21                  (3.63)                   0.46  

Notes 1 to 28 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.  
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 1 Jan-31 Dec 
(Amounts in NOK million)   2023 2022 

Profit for the year               (2,348.1)                  295.9  

Value adjustment of owner-occupied property 6                   (13.6)                      3.4  

Income tax related to value adjustment and depreciation of owner-occupied property 14                      3.0                     (0.7) 

Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax                    (10.6)                      2.7  

Share of foreign currency translation reserve in joint ventures 8                    30.3                   (58.3) 

Other comprehensive inc. that subsequently may be reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax                    30.3                   (58.3) 

Total other comprehensive income for the year                      19.7                   (55.6) 

Total comprehensive income for the year               (2,328.4)                 240.3  

Total comprehensive income attributable to shareholders of the parent company               (2,328.4)                 240.3  

Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests                          -                           -    

Notes 1 to 28 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 Dec 
(Amounts in NOK million) Note 2023 2022 

Financial derivative instruments 3, 9, 10                    147.6                     161.6  

Investment property 6               23,517.7               24,859.1  

Owner-occupied property 6                   144.9                    108.8  

Other fixed assets 7                     30.3                       31.5  

Investment in joint ventures 8                    933.2                  1,061.7  

Receivables 11                    231.1                     233.1  

Total non-current assets               25,004.8               26,455.8  

Financial derivative instruments 3, 9, 10                        3.6                         1.9  

Receivables 9, 11                   777.0                    268.0  

Cash and cash equivalents 3, 9                    325.6                     185.1  

Total current assets                   1,106.2                    455.0  

TOTAL ASSETS                 26,111.0               26,910.8  

Share capital 20                    331.4                    324.9  

Treasury shares 20                      (3.1)                      (3.1) 

Share premium                   3,773.2                 3,280.0  

Other paid-in equity                   6,310.1                  7,563.3  

Retained earnings                           -                    1,397.1  

Total equity                 10,411.6                12,562.1  

Deferred tax 14                 1,360.5                  1,893.3  

Financial derivative instruments 3, 9, 10                         -                         18.2  

Interest-bearing debt 9, 13              10,777.8                10,351.6  

Other liabilities 9, 12                        2.6                        2.0  

Non-current liabilities                 12,140.9                12,265.1  

Financial derivative instruments 3, 9, 10                       9.8                          -    

Interest-bearing debt 9, 13                 3,210.6                  1,834.1  

Other liabilities 9, 12                    338.1                    249.5  

Total current liabilities                  3,558.5                 2,083.6  

Total liabilities                 15,699.4               14,348.7  

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES                 26,111.0               26,910.8  

Notes 1 to 28 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

Oslo, 2 April 2024 
Norwegian Property ASA 
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Changes in the group’s equity 
  

Note 
Share 

capital 
Treasury 

shares 
Share 

premium 
Other paid-in 

equity 
Retained 
earnings 

Total equity 
(Amounts in NOK million) 

Total equity 31 December 2021           324.9             (3.1)      3,280.0        7,563.3        1,671.7      12,836.6  

Profit for the year 20               -                  -                  -                  -             295.9           295.9  

Other comprehensive income for the year 20               -                  -                  -                  -             (55.6)          (55.6) 

Total comprehensive income for the year                 -                  -                  -                  -            240.3          240.3  

Paid dividend 22               -                  -                  -                  -           (514.9)        (514.9) 

Total contributions by and distributions to 
owners of the parent 

                -                  -                  -                  -           (514.9)        (514.9) 

Total equity 31 December 2022           324.9             (3.1)      3,280.0        7,563.3        1,397.1      12,562.1  

Profit for the year 20               -                  -                  -         (1,253.1)     (1,095.0)     (2,348.1) 

Other comprehensive income for the year 20               -                  -                  -                  -               19.7             19.7  

Total comprehensive income for the year                 -                  -                  -         (1,253.1)     (1,075.3)    (2,328.4) 

Paid dividend 22               -                  -                  -                  -           (321.8)        (321.8) 

Share issue 22              6.5                -            493.2                -                  -            499.7  

Total contributions by and distributions to 
owners of the parent 

               6.5                -            493.2                -           (321.8)          177.9  

Total equity 31 December 2023            331.4             (3.1)       3,773.2        6,310.1                -        10,411.6  

Notes 1 to 28 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated cash flow statement 1 Jan-31 Dec 
(Amounts in NOK million) Note 2023 2022 

Profit before income tax  (2,765.8) 502.5  

Paid taxes 14  -   (0.1) 

Net financial items 9, 17  445.4  186.2  

Interest received 17  42.3  17.2  

Interest paid 13, 17  (432.1) (356.9) 

Interest income on guarantee receivables  (5.7) (7.7) 

Depreciation of tangible assets 6, 7  7.1  6.5  

Change in fair value of investment property 6  3,150.3  154.7  

Profit and loss from joint ventures 8  55.8  (33.8) 

Change in rental guarantee receivables 6  55.2  60.5  

Change in current items   8.7  (71.8) 

Net cash flow from operational activities  561.1  457.4  

Payment for investment in investment property 6  (2,000.7) (257.6) 

Payment for investment in other fixed assets 7  (3.2) (1.3) 

Net change of loans to joint ventures 8  (60.7) -   

Dividends received from joint ventures 8  106.3  -   

Other investing activities 11  (456.0) -   

Net cash flow from investing activities  (2,414.4) (258.9) 

Repayment of interest-bearing debt 13  (1,834.5)                (1,890.6) 

New interest-bearing debt 13  3,650.5  2,078.5  

Share issues 20  499.7  -   

Paid dividend 22  (321.8) (514.9) 

Net cash flow from financial activities  1,993.9  (327.0) 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents   140.5  (128.5) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 3  185.1  313.6  

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 3  325.6  185.1  

Notes 1 to 28 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes and other explanatory 
information 
NOTE 1: General information 

The Norwegian Property ASA property group 
primarily owns commercial properties in the Oslo 
region. Norwegian Property also owns a share (joint 
venture) in the residential development company 
Nordr. Nordr’s business consists of both wholly 
owned and partly owned plots and projects. 
Calculated on the basis of the ownership share in the 
projects, Nordr has 1,590 residential units under 
construction, including tenant owned units, and a 
land bank of approx. 13,300 units in the largest 
Norwegian and Swedish cities, with an emphasis on 
eastern Norway and the extended Stockholm capital 
region in Sweden. Norwegian Property also has a 
joint venture with Base Bolig related to a 
development project at Forusbeen 35 in Stavanger. 

The holding company, Norwegian Property ASA, is a 
public limited company with its headquarters at 
Bryggegata 3, Oslo (Norway). 

The financial statements were adopted by the board 
on 2 April 2024 for final approval by the AGM in 2024. 

NOTE 2: Summary of material 
accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have 
been consistently applied to all the years presented, 
unless otherwise stated.  

2.1 - Basis of preparation 
The consolidated financial statements of Norwegian 
Property ASA have been prepared in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU and effective as at 31 
December 2023, and additional requirements 
pursuant to the Norwegian Accounting Act as at 31 
December 2023.  

The financial statements have been prepared on a 
historical cost basis, except for certain financial 
assets and liabilities (including derivative 
instruments), certain classes of property, plant and 

equipment and investment property measured at 
fair value (see note 4). 

Preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with the IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management 
to exercise judgements in the process of applying 
the group’s accounting policies. Areas involving a 
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant for 
the financial statements, are disclosed in note 5. 

No significant changes have been made to 
accounting policies compared with the principles 
used in the preparation of the financial statements 
for 2023.  

The Group has implemented the amendments to 
IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 regarding the 
disclosure of accounting policies effective from 1 
January 2023.  

The group has not carried out the early adoption of 
any standard, interpretation or amendment that has 
been issued but that has not yet been made 
effective. No new or amended standards not yet 
effective are expected to have a material impact.  

2.2 - Consolidation policies 

(A) Businesses 

Businesses are all entities (including structured 
entities) over which the group has control. The 
group controls an entity where the group is exposed 
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power to direct the 
activities of the entity. Businesses are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated 
from the date that control ceases. 

Purchases of single-purpose entities owning only 
property, with no employees, management or 
recorded procedure descriptions, are not 
considered as the acquisition of business (IFRS 3 
Business Combinations is not applicable). The cost 
of such purchases is capitalised as part of the 
acquisition price.  

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised 
gains on transactions between group companies are 
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eliminated. Unrealised losses are eliminated, but 
they are assessed as an impairment indicator in 
relation to the transferred asset. Accounting policies 
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary 
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 
the group. 

(B) Joint arrangements

The group’s share of the joint venture’s net profit is 
presented in accordance with the equity method on 
a separate line in the consolidated income 
statement, and the investment is similarly 
recognised on a separate line under fixed assets in 
the balance sheet. The group’s share of gain and 
loss from the transactions with the joint venture are 
eliminated. Accounting policies in the joint venture 
are changed when necessary to achieve conformity 
with the accounting policies applied by the group. 

2.3 - Segment reporting 
Operating segments are reported in a manner 
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision maker. The chief operating 
decision maker, responsible for allocating resources 
and assessing the performance of the operating 
segments, has been identified as corporate 
management. See note 15. 

2.4 - Foreign currency translation 

(A) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of 
the group’s entities are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the 
entity operates (the functional currency). The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in 
NOK, which is the parent company’s functional and 
presentation currency.  

(B) Transaction and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into 
NOK using the exchange rates prevailing on the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains 
and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation at year-end 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in 
the income statement.  

2.5 - Classification of balance-sheet 
items 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 
amount is recognised in the balance sheet when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously. 

2.6 Investment property 
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, 
including the transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair 
value, which reflects market conditions at the 
reporting date.  

Changes in fair value are recorded in the income 
statement under change in fair value of investment 
property.  

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s 
carrying amount only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. Other repair and maintenance 
costs are charged to the income statement during 
the financial period in which they are incurred. Costs 
related to the termination of leases are capitalised if 
the main purpose of the termination is linked to a 
further development of the property and are 
expensed if the main purpose of the termination is 
purely a change of tenant.  

2.7 - Owner-occupied property 
If an investment property is used by the group, it is 
reclassified as owner-occupied property unless the 
internal use is insignificant. Fair value at the date of 
reclassification is the property’s acquisition cost. An 
owner-occupied property is accounted for at 
revalued value less accumulated depreciation and 
amortisation. An evaluation of fair value for such 
properties is carried out in the same manner as 
described for investment properties. An increase in 
the value of owner-occupied property is not 
recognised in the income statement, but it is 
recognised as a change of the revaluation reserve in 
comprehensive income. A reduction of the value is 
recognised against the revaluation reserve, related 
to the revaluation of the specific building. If a 
reduction exceeds the revaluation reserve, the 
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remainder is recognised against the income 
statement. 

2.8 - Financial instruments 

(A) General principles and definitions

Recognition and derecognition 
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets 
are recognised on the trade date, being the date on 
which the group commits to purchase or sell the 
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the 
rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets 
have expired or have been transferred and the group 
has substantially transferred all the risks and rewards 
of ownership.  

On the initial recognition of a financial asset or 
liability, it is measured at fair value with the exception 
of trade receivables, which are measured at the 
transaction price with a provision for expected bad 
debts on the initial recognition to the extent that 
such bad debts have arisen from the letting 
business, and where no significant financing 
element is included in the transaction price. 

Classification 
The group classifies financial instruments in the 
categories at fair value through profit and loss and at 
amortised cost. The classification depends on the 
purpose of the instrument, and the group assesses 
the classification of financial instruments on their 
acquisition. 

(B) Financial instruments at fair value through
profit and loss

Financial instruments at fair value through profit and 
loss include derivatives unless they are part of 
hedging. See note 2.10 related to interest-rate swaps 
and forward exchange contracts. 
The group’s financial instruments at fair value 
through profit and loss also include non-current 
receivables related to rental guarantees provided by 
the seller of a property, where the seller guarantees 
an agreed level for rent and common cost coverage 
of vacant premises for an agreed period. The value 
of the receivable is calculated as the discounted 
value of expected payments under the rental 
guarantee. Payments under the guarantee are 
accounted for against the receivable and the 
receivable will be updated with any changes of the 
initial estimate. 

(C) Financial instruments at amortised cost

The group’s financial instruments at amortised cost 
primarily comprise borrowings and bank deposits as 
well as receivables and payables arising from regular 
operation. 

Borrowings  
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net 
of the transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. Any differences between 
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption value are recognised in the income 
statement over the duration of the borrowings. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents are classified at 
amortised cost. They include cash on hand, bank 
deposits and other current highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less. Bank 
overdrafts are included in borrowings in the balance 
sheet under current liabilities. 
Trade receivables and other financial assets 
Trade receivables and other financial assets are 
classified as financial assets measured at amortised 
cost. Interest is ignored if it is insignificant. The 
group applies the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to 
measure the loss allowance at lifetime expected 
credit losses. A provision for bad debt is determined 
by estimating the expected credit losses with 
reference to the past default experience of the 
debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current 
financial position, adjusted for factors that are 
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions 
of the industry in which the debtors operate and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions on the reporting 
date. 

There has been no change in the estimation 
techniques or significant assumptions made during 
the current reporting period. Any subsequent 
payments received against accounts for which a 
provision has previously been made are recognised 
in the income statement. Trade receivables and 
other financial assets are classified as current assets, 
unless they are due more than twelve months after 
the balance sheet date. If so, they are classified as 
non-current assets. 

Trade payables and other non-interest-bearing 
liabilities 
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Trade payables and other non-interest bearing 
liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at 
amortised cost, and are measured at fair value upon 
initial recognition, and subsequently at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method. Interest 
is ignored if it is insignificant. 

2.9 - Derivatives and hedging 

All the group’s interest-rate swaps are used as 
economic hedges. Hedge accounting is not applied. 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the 
date the derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently recognised continuously at their fair 
value.  

Change in fair value of interest derivatives are 
recognised in the income statement under change 
in fair value of interest derivatives. 

2.10 - Share capital, treasury shares, 
share premium and share options 
Shares are classified as equity when there is no 
obligation to transfer cash or other assets. Costs 
directly attributable to the issuance of new shares or 
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 
tax, from the proceeds. Treasury shares are 
deducted from the share capital in the financial 
statements. 

Employee options represent rights for employees to 
subscribe for shares in the group at a future time at a 
predetermined subscription price (subscription 
right). Exercise requires continued employment. The 
fair value of employee benefits received in exchange 
for the granting of options is calculated as an 
expense. The total amount to be expensed over the 
vesting period reflects the fair value of the options 
granted measured at the grant date. On the balance-
sheet date, the group revises the estimates of the 
number of options expected to be utilised and 
changes in estimates are recognised in the income 
statement over the remaining vesting period with a 
corresponding adjustment of equity. The strike price 
after the deduction of possible transaction costs is 
credited to share capital and the share premium 
when the option is exercised. Employer’s tax is 
accrued on the balance sheet date as an expense in 
the accounts on the basis of the market value of the 
options (i.e. the difference between the market value 
and the strike value of the shares). 

2.11 - Deferred income tax 
Deferred income tax is calculated in full on all 
temporary differences arising between the tax basis 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in 
the consolidated financial statements. However, the 
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises 
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction other than a business combination 
which at the time of the transaction affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred 
income tax is determined using tax rates and tax 
laws which have been enacted or substantially 
enacted as at the balance-sheet date, and which are 
expected to apply when the related deferred income 
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax 
liability is settled.  

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will 
be available against which the temporary differences 
can be utilised.  

Deferred income tax is provided on the temporary 
differences arising from investments in subsidiaries 
and associates, except where the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by 
the group and it is probable that the temporary 
differences will not reverse soon.  

Pursuant to the exception in IAS 12, deferred tax is 
not recognised when buying a company which is not 
a business. A provision for deferred tax is made after 
subsequent increases in the value beyond the initial 
cost, while a fall in value below the initial cost will 
only reverse previous provisions for deferred tax. 
Furthermore, an increase in the temporary 
differences related to tax depreciation will give 
grounds for a recognition of deferred tax. 

2.12 - Revenue recognition 
Revenue mainly concerns rental income from 
investment properties. 

Operating income encompasses the fair value of the 
consideration received for services in the ordinary 
business. Revenues are presented net of VAT, 
discounts and rebates.  

The lease agreements include certain services 
offered to tenants including common area 
maintenance services as well as other support 
services. The consideration charged to tenants for 
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these services mainly includes fees charged based 
on total costs incurred in relation to the percentage 
of the rented space. These services are specified in 
the lease agreements and separately invoiced. The 
group arranges for third parties to provide for a 
significant part of these services to its tenants. The 
group does not act as a principal in relation to these 
services as it does not control the specified services 
before transferring them to the customer. The group 
records revenue on a net basis. Therefore, the 
operating revenues do not include service charges 
invoiced to tenants. Accrued service charges are 
recognised in the balance sheet together with 
payments on account from tenants. The settlement 
of service charges is made after the balance-sheet 
date. 

The group earns rental income through operating 
leases. Rental income is recognised on a linear basis 
over the rental period. Lease incentives in the form 
of rent rebates, compensation payments or the like 
are distributed over the duration of the lease so that 
the income is recognised on a linear basis. The 
accrued amount is presented under other 
receivables in the balance sheet. Upon a tenant’s 
termination, the renegotiated remaining cash flows 
are recognised over the remaining period until the 
premises are vacated. 

Norwegian Property’s rent related to retail and 
restaurant leases are partly revenue-based. Such 
lease agreements typically contain a minimum rent 
and a turnover-based rent. The minimum rent is 
recognised on a linear basis over the rental period. 
Turnover-based rent is recognised as income on the 
basis of the tenant’s reported turnover for the 
period. Estimates are used as a basis for the revenue 
recognition when the reporting is received 
subsequent to year-end. 

Other variable revenue related to the marina 
business, outdoor areas and the energy centre at 
Aker Brygge is recognised when the goods or 
services are transferred to the customer at the 
transaction price. 

2.13 - Dividend distribution 
Dividend distribution to the shareholders is 
recognised as a liability in the financial statements in 
the period in which the dividends are approved by 
the shareholders. 

2.14 - Interest expense 
Interest expenses on borrowings are recognised 
under financial costs in the income statement using 
the effective interest-rate method.  

General and specific borrowing costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period to complete for 
their intended use, are added to the cost of those 
assets until the assets are substantially ready for 
their intended use.  

2.15 - Pensions 
Norwegian Property ASA operates a defined 
contribution plan for all employees. A defined 
contribution pension scheme is an arrangement 
whereby the group pays fixed (defined) amounts to a 
separate legal entity. The group has no legal or other 
obligations to pay further amounts. Contributions 
are recognised as an employee benefit expense 
when they fall due. Prepaid contributions are 
capitalised as an asset to the extent that cash 
refunds or reductions in future payments are 
available.  

2.16 - Operating expenses 
Property-related expenses include the administrative 
costs related to the management of the properties 
as well as the operating and maintenance costs.  

Other property expenses include income-related 
costs associated with leasing, marketing and so 
forth of the properties, the owner’s share of service 
charges for the properties and project-related 
property costs.  

Administrative expenses relate to costs not directly 
related to the operation and letting of properties, 
and include costs related to overall ownership and 
corporate functions. 

Norwegian Property has contracts with tenants to 
acquire, on their behalf, joint services associated 
with the general operation of the properties. The 
lessor provides procurement services (i.e., 
coordinating the selection of suitable suppliers and 
managing the ordering and delivery of the joint 
services). The group does not have control of the 
services before these are transferred to the tenants. 
The group is acting as an agent and recognises 

pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20recognition%20of%20revenue%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20dividends%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20dividends%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20dividends%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20dividends%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20dividends%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20interest%20income%20and%20expense%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20interest%20income%20and%20expense%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20interest%20income%20and%20expense%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20interest%20income%20and%20expense%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20interest%20income%20and%20expense%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20interest%20income%20and%20expense%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20interest%20income%20and%20expense%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20interest%20income%20and%20expense%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20interest%20income%20and%20expense%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20interest%20income%20and%20expense%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20interest%20income%20and%20expense%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20employee%20benefits%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20employee%20benefits%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20employee%20benefits%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20employee%20benefits%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20employee%20benefits%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20employee%20benefits%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20employee%20benefits%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20employee%20benefits%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20employee%20benefits%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20employee%20benefits%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20employee%20benefits%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20employee%20benefits%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Disclosure%20of%20significant%20accounting%20policies%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Accounting%20policies/Description%20of%20accounting%20policy%20for%20expenses%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d


Norwegian Property ASA  Annual report 2023 
 

 
Annual group accounts 35 

revenue at the net amount that is retained for these 
arrangements.  

NOTE 3: Financial risk management 

The group’s activities imply exposure to a variety of 
financial risks: market (including foreign exchange, 
interest rate and price), credit and liquidity. The 
group’s overall risk management programme 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets 
and seeks to minimise the potential adverse effects 
on the group’s profit/loss and equity. The group uses 
hedging instruments designed to mitigate certain 
risks. Hedge accounting is not applied.  

Risk management for the group is managed by a 
corporate treasury department in accordance with 
guidelines approved by the board. Management 
identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in 
close cooperation with the group’s operational units. 
The board provides written policies for overall risk 
management and written guidelines for specific 
areas, such as foreign exchange and interest-rate 
risk. 

3.1 – Market risk 

Foreign exchange risk  
The group has no lease agreements with tenants in 
foreign currencies, and all the operational costs are, 
in practice, in NOK.  

Norwegian Property owns a share (joint venture) in 
the residential development company Nordr. Nordr 
has operations in both Norway and Sweden. The 
investment is accounted for in accordance with the 
equity method on a single line in the income 
statement and balance sheet. The book value in the 
balance sheet as at 31 December 2023 amounts to 
NOK 930.1 million (NOK 1,061.7 million). The group’s 
share of Nordr is partly exposed to SEK, and its share 
of translation differences recognised under the 
equity method is presented within other 
comprehensive income. 

Price risk  
Rental income is exposed to changes in market 
rents, revenue-based rent and changes in the 
consumer price index (CPI). The group prefers long-
term leases. The weighted average duration of rental 
contracts as at 31 December 2023 was 5.3 years (4.9 
years).  

Rental agreements for the commercial properties 
primarily give a fixed revenue during the lease term. 
Most leases (99.9 per cent) have a full CPI 
adjustment clause allowing the group to adjust rents 
in line with CPI changes. The group seeks to 
incorporate clauses providing for such regulation in 
all new leases. CPI regulation in 2023 was 4 per cent 
for leases regulated in October and 4.8 per cent for 
leases regulated in November, which increased the 
annual rental income as at 31 December 2023 by 
NOK 49 million. Rent related to the shopping centre 
at Aker Brygge and Hasle in Oslo is partly revenue-
based.  

Interest-rate risk 
The group is subject to interest-rate risk related to 
floating rate loans. Norwegian Property’s overall 
guidance pursuant to current loan agreements is a 
hedging ratio of at least 60 per cent related to 
outstanding floating-rate loans. As at 31 December 
2023, 63.9 per cent (70.1 per cent) of such loans 
were hedged (see note 13). 

To manage interest-rate risk, the group had entered 
into interest-rate swap agreements totalling NOK 3.5 
billion as at 31 December (NOK 4 billion). The 
average credit margin on floating-rate borrowings as 
at 31 December 2023 was 153 basis points (136 basis 
points). The average basis rate of the loan portfolio 
as at 31 December 2023 was 4.39 per cent (3.48 per 
cent). The average remaining maturity of hedging 
agreements was 4.8 years (5.6 years). Notional 
principal amounts and the maturity structure for the 
group’s total portfolio of interest-rate hedges as at 31 
December are specified in NOK million in the table 
below (see also note 10).  

 

According to the specifications in note 13, the 
company’s average interest rate was changed by 
0.91 per cent in 2023 and 0.70 per cent in 2022. 
Based on this, a sensitivity analysis has been 
prepared. If the average interest rate for the group 
had been 91 (70) basis points higher/lower as at 31 
December and all other variables were constant, this 
would have constituted a change in the annual 
interest expense on the unsecured lending portfolio 

Year 2023 2022
< 1 year         (1,050.0)            (500.0)
1-2 years            (400.0)         (1,050.0)
3-5 years            (500.0)            (600.0)
Over 5 years         (1,500.0)         (1,800.0)
Notional principal amount         (3,450.0)         (3,950.0)
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and a change in the value of interest-rate swaps as 
follows. 

Increases in market interest rates can lead to 
increased yield levels for the group’s properties, 
which in turn can affect the valuations of the 
properties. 

3.2 - Credit risk 
The majority of the group’s rental revenues come 
from solid tenants. Tenants are preferably large, 
solid companies and public institutions, which 
reduces the risk related to leases. New tenants are 
checked with credit rating agencies for an 
acceptable credit history. Most tenants have 
provided bank guarantees or made deposits of sums 
equivalent to six months of rent. Rents are generally 
invoiced quarterly in advance. Credit loss has 
historically been limited. The group’s trade 
receivables at the balance-sheet date are entirely in 
NOK. 

3.3 - Liquidity risk 
The group aims to ensure that the liquidity/credit 
facilities are sufficient to meet its foreseeable 
obligations. In addition, it will have a reasonable 
capacity to meet unforeseen obligations. The 
funding strategy aims to maintain flexibility and 
withstand fluctuations in rental income. One goal is 
that the liquidity reserve should consist as far as 
possible of available revolving credit and overdraft 
facilities, rather than cash and cash equivalents. The 
group’s liquidity reserve as at 31 December is 
specified in the table below. 

As described hereinabove, the group has a high level 
of hedging against changes in market interest rates, 
reducing the need for liquidity reserves to meet 
unforeseen obligations related to these areas. The 
group has generated positive cash flows from 
operational activities in both 2023 (NOK 590.3 
million) and 2022 (NOK 457.4 million). Additional 
liquidity risks primarily relate to servicing 
instalments and the maturity of liabilities. The 
maturity structure of liabilities for the group is 
specified in the tables below. The classification is 
based on the maturity specified in the contracts. The 
figures in the tables specify the timing of repayment 
of the principal amounts as well as the annual 
interest payments. 

20231: 

(Amounts in NOK 
million) 

Interest-      
bearing                                           

debt 

Other liabilities 
at amortised 

cost 
< 1 year                 3,759.3  300.5  
1-2 years                4,356.6  -   
3-5 years                3,818.5  -   
Over 5 years                 3,775.2  -   
Expected cash flow               15,709.7  300.5  
Book value              13,988.4  300.5  

20221: 

(Amounts in NOK 
million) 

Interest-        
bearing                                           

debt 

Other liabilities 
at amortised 

cost 
< 1 year                 2,226.9  209.1  
1-2 years                 2,929.9  -   
3-5 years                4,689.3  -   
Over 5 years                3,850.2  -   
Expected cash flow               13,696.3  209.1  
Book value              12,185.7  209.1  

1 The difference between the carrying amount and expected 
cash flow for interest-bearing debt reflects capitalised costs 
and estimated interest costs based on the average interest 
rate as at 31 December. 

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022
Average interest rate increase (per 
cent) 0.91 0.70 
Change in financial expense                (51.0)               (25.2)
Change in fair value of interest 
derivatives 83.7 78.4 
Change in profit before income tax 32.8 53.2 
Average interest rate decrease (per 
cent)                (0.91)               (0.70)
Change in financial expense 51.0 25.2 
Change in fair value of interest 
derivatives               (83.7)               (78.4)
Change in profit before income tax               (32.8)               (53.2)

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022
Cash and cash equivalents            325.6             185.1 
- of which restricted cash and
cash equivalents              (4.8)               (6.5)
Available cash and cash 
equivalents            320.8            178.6 
Unused credit and overdraft 
facilities        3,086.4          1,157.0 
Liquidity reserve         3,407.2          1,335.6 
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A number of financing activities have been carried 
out in 2023. The refinancing of all 2024 debt 
maturities were completed in 2023. New loan 
facilities with a total limit of NOK 4,005 million have 
been established in collaboration with relationship 
banks, and a new NOK 1 billion green bond has been 
established related to the acquisition of Telegrafen. 
Loans maturing in 2024 amount to NOK 3,215 
million, and the available unused credit facilities 
amount to NOK 3,086.4 million at year-end. 

Interest-bearing debt in the balance sheet totalled 
NOK 13,988.4 million as at 31 December 2023, with 
non-current interest-bearing debt accounting for 
NOK 10,777.8 million and current interest-bearing 
debt for NOK 3,210.6 million. Current interest-
bearing debt as at 31 December 2023 relates to 
facilities maturing in 2024. 

3.4 - Capital risk management 
The group’s objectives relating to capital 
management are to ensure continued operation in 
order to provide returns for shareholders and 
benefits for other stakeholders. To achieve this, the 
aim is to maintain a capital structure which helps to 
reduce the cost of capital. 

Norwegian Property’s goal is to pay a dividend to its 
shareholders amounting to 30-50 per cent of its 
ordinary profit after tax payable but before fair-value 
adjustments. The dividend can be higher in times 
with good cash flow. Before a dividend is 
determined, an assessment is made of the group’s 
financial position and prospects, including the 
availability of attractive investment opportunities. 

Capital management seeks to maintain a good 
balance between debt and equity. The group must 
have a satisfactory equity ratio, but where the main 
focus relates to the loan-to-value (LTV) ratio. The 
latter is calculated as gross debt less cash and 
interest-bearing receivables divided by the gross 
property value. The group’s goal is to have an LTV 
ratio of 45-55 per cent. The LTV ratio as at 31 
December is specified in the table below. A 
condition of the group’s overdraft facilities is that the 
LTV ratio should not exceed 75 per cent. Agreed 
requirements related to the LTV ratio in the loan 
agreements were met with a good margin as at 31 
December and at the interim reporting dates for 
2023 and 2022. To change the capital structure, the 
group may adjust the level of dividends paid to 

shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue 
new shares or sell assets to redeem debt. 

 

1 Applies to the book value of the investment in Nordr (joint 
venture), adjusted for the EPRA-revaluation of the 
investment.                                                                              

NOTE 4: Assessment of fair value 

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis except for 
investment property and some financial assets and 
financial liabilities (including derivative instruments), 
which are recognised at fair value through profit and 
loss. 

4.1 - Investment property 
According to the group’s valuation process, the 
finance and investment department is responsible 
for the preparation of valuations of investment 
property for use in the financial statements. The 
department is responsible for a quarterly valuation of 
the group’s investment properties at fair value. The 
group’s valuation process is based on external 
valuations, supplemented by internal analysis where 
the group makes an assessment and determines 
whether the external valuations give an accurate 
picture of the fair value of the investment properties. 
Inspections and technical reviews of all the 
properties are performed regularly. The valuations 
are reviewed quarterly as a key part of the audit 
committee’s quality assurance of the interim and 
annual accounts. Based on this valuation process, all 
the properties were valued by two independent 
professional appraisers as at 31 December 2023. 
Cushman & Wakefield and Akershus Eiendom have 
prepared a valuation of all the properties. The group 

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022
Long-term interest-bearing 
liabilities       10,777.8        10,351.6 
Short-term interest-bearing 
liabilities         3,210.6         1,834.1 
Interest-bearing receivables           (627.3)           (110.2)
Cash and cash equivalents           (325.6)           (185.1)
Net interest-bearing liabilities       13,035.5       11,890.5 
Market value of property portfolio       23,893.7       25,201.0 
Market value of investment in 
joint ventures1         1,992.0         2,181.0 

Market value of property portfolio 
and investment in joint ventures       25,885.7       27,382.0 
Net loan to value (per cent)              50.4              43.4 
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has concluded that an average of the valuations may 
be used as the basis for the accounting of 
investment properties at fair value as at 31 
December 2023. See also note 5 for critical 
accounting estimates and judgements. 

4.2 - Financial instruments and 
derivatives  
The estimated fair value of the group’s financial 
instruments is based on market prices and valuation 
methods as described below. 

Interest-bearing liabilities  
The group recognises interest-bearing liabilities at 
amortised cost. Notes to the financial statements 
(see note 13) provide information on the estimated 
fair value of interest-bearing liabilities. Bonds are 
valued at the market price as at 31 December and 
bank loans at the estimated fair value where account 
is taken of the estimated difference between the 
current margin and market conditions. 

Trade receivables/other receivables and trade 
payables/other liabilities  
In principle, these items are recognised initially at 
fair value and measured at amortised cost in 
subsequent periods. However, discounting is not 
normally assumed to have a significant effect on this 
type of receivable and liability.  

Derivatives  
The fair value of financial derivatives, including 
interest-rate swaps and currency forward exchange 
contracts/swaps, is determined by the net present 
value of future cash flows, calculated using quoted 
interest-rate curves and exchange rates at the 
balance-sheet date. The technical calculations are 
generally performed by the group’s banks. The 
group has checked these valuations and tested 
them for reasonableness. 

Rental guarantee receivables 
Rental guarantee receivables relate to rental 
guarantees provided by the seller of properties, 
where the seller guarantees an agreed level for rent 
and the common costs of vacant premises for an 
agreed period. The valuation is based on an internal 
assessment. The value of the receivable is calculated 
as the discounted value of expected payments under 
the rental guarantee. Payments under the guarantee 
are accounted for against the receivable, and the 

receivable will be updated with any changes to the 
initial estimate. 

NOTE 5: Critical accounting estimates 
and judgements 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated, 
and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations about future events 
which are believed to be reasonable under the 
current circumstances.  

Management makes estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the actual 
figures. The estimates and assumptions which 
involve the greatest risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the next financial year are outlined 
below.  

5.1 - Fair value of investment properties  
Investment property is valued at its fair value based 
on a quarterly valuation update. Procedures for 
determining fair value for investment properties are 
described in note 4. In line with these policies, the 
portfolio of commercial properties is valued every 
quarter on the basis of external valuations.  

Properties are valued by discounting future cash 
flows. Both contractual and expected cash flows are 
included in the calculations. Therefore, the fair-value 
assessment of investment properties largely 
depends on assumptions related to market rents, 
discount rates and CPI adjustments. Market rents 
are based on individual assessments of each 
property and on segmentations of different areas 
within the properties if relevant. To the extent that a 
specific development potential is associated with a 
property, an assessment is made as to whether this 
supports or influences fair value. Updated 
macroeconomic assumptions for interest-rate 
levels, inflation expectations and so forth are applied 
in the calculations. Inflation expectations are based 
on consensus views from banks and public statistical 
agencies. Based on an assessment of the properties, 
tenants and macroeconomic conditions as at the 
balance-sheet date, cash flows are discounted using 
discount rates based on individual assessments of 
each property. 
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Observed ranges for key variables in the individual 
property valuations from the external valuations are 
as follows, related to both investment property and 
owner-occupied property. 

Class of Property 
Fair Value             

2023 
Fair Value            

2022 
Investment property 
(NOK million) 

                23,517.7                  24,859.1  

Owner-occupied 
prop. (NOK million) 

                     144.9                      108.8  

Variables 
Range                       

2023 
Range                      

2022 
Exit yield (per cent)1  4.6 - 7.1   3.8 - 6.0  
Operating costs 
(NOK per sqm)2 

 100 - 300   100 - 300  

Market rent (NOK 
per sqm)2 

 1,700 - 6,000   1,700 - 5,900  

1 Variables used as a basis in the valuation of the individual 
properties by the two appraisers. 
2 Average amounts from the two valuations based on the 
total cost and market rent for the individual property in 
relation to the total number of sqm for the property. 

The sensitivity of the fair-value assessment of 
investment properties depends on the assumptions 
related to yield, interest rates, market rents and 
operating costs for the properties. The table1 below 
presents examples of how changes related to each 
of these variables influenced property values as at 31 
December 2023, assuming all other variables 
remained constant (amounts in NOK million). 

 

1 The calculations have been performed by Cushman & 
Wakefield in connection with the valuations at 31 December 
2023. 

5.2 - Fair value of financial derivatives  
The group’s financial derivatives include interest-
rate swap contracts and currency forward/swap 
contracts. The procedures for valuation are 
described in note 4. The calculations are performed 
by the group’s banks. The group has checked these 
valuations and tested them for reasonableness. The 
valuations involve a small degree of discretionary 
assessments, and the company’s internal 
assessments deviate to a very small extent from the 
external valuations. 

5.3 - Fair value of rental guarantee 
receivables 
Rental guarantee receivables relate to rental 
guarantees provided by the seller of properties. The 
procedures for valuation are described in note 4. 
The valuation is based on internal assessments. The 
value of the receivable is calculated as the 
discounted value of expected future payments under 
the rental guarantee. Therefore, the fair-value 
assessment largely depends on the assumptions 
related to future rentals, discount rates and CPI 
adjustments. Management’s rental expectations are 
the basis for the assessments, together with a 
discount rate of three per cent and comparable 
inflation expectations as used in the valuation of 
investment properties.  

5.4 - Climate risk in the accounts 
Climate risk can represent financial risk that must be 
reflected in the accounts. 

Further information on climate risk is provided in the 
declaration of corporate social responsibility as well 
as in the table in the risk and risk management 
section of the annual report. 

Climate risk is linked to both the impact of climate 
change on the company and the impact the 
company’s activities has on the climate. Both of 
these factors can be financially significant for the 
company, and the materiality assessments are often 
referred to as double materiality. Climate risk can be 
linked to physical risk where there is a risk of assets 
being damaged or shortened in life as well as to 
transitional risk due to changes in the market and 
regulatory conditions. 

Climate risk can affect future cash flows and thus the 
valuation of assets and liabilities in the accounts. The 
most important assessment for Norwegian Property 
is how climate risk affects the valuation of 
investment property. 

Valuation of investment property 
Physical risk associated with the properties is first 
and foremost related to the extent to which 
conditions such as warmer climates, increased 
water levels, more extreme weather, etc. affect the 
properties.  

Transition risks are divided into market and 
regulatory components.  

Variables Changes of variables Value change
Exit yield + 0.25 per cent                   (1,436)
Operating costs + NOK 25 per sqm                      (874)
Market rent + 10 per cent                      1,313 
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Market risk includes the risk for increased demand 
for more environmentally-friendly premises, more 
demanding environmental standards from investors 
and banks, increased insurance premiums if 
damage from climate change becomes extensive, 
technology risk related to new energy solutions and 
building standards and reputational risk as climate-
related awareness spreads. 

Examples of regulatory risk are government 
requirements and permits in such areas as building 
standards, traffic and infrastructure. Taxes could rise 
in line with increased public spending. 

Norwegian Property has had a scenario analysis 
carried out by external experts (CEMAsys) in the field 
to analyse the risk elements related to the 
company’s real estate portfolio. No critical factors 
have been identified that obviously have a material 
impact on the market value of the properties. 

In preparing the external valuations of the 
company’s properties, it has been assessed with the 
valuers to what extent climate risk affects the 
valuation. The assessment is that, so far, there are 
no significant factors related to climate risk that 
affect the market’s pricing of the property portfolio. It 
is assumed that this assessment will change over 
time as the risk elements to a greater extent may 
affect future cash flows for the properties, including 
the following examples of relevant risk areas: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- Increased demand for more 
environmentally-friendly premises can 
affect rental income. 

- Environmental measures on the properties 
could lead to greater development and 
adaptation costs. Keeping abreast of 
technical developments for energy 
solutions and building standards will be 
important. Opportunities also exist for 
more energy-efficient solutions with new 
technology. 

- Environmental standards from banks and 
investors will become stricter. At the same 
time, however, green loans offer 
opportunities for lower margins and a 
larger investor base. 

- Government requirements and permits in 
such areas as building standards, traffic 
and infrastructure are expected to become 
stricter, and taxes could rise in line with 
increased public spending. 

- Insurance premiums can increase if 
damage from climate change becomes 
extensive. 

NOTE 6: Investment property, owner-
occupied property and guarantee 
receivables 

6.1 – Development in carrying amounts  
Changes to the balance-sheet items of investment 
property, owner-occupied property and guarantee 
receivables are specified in the table below. 
Changes in the market value of investment property 
and guarantee receivables are recognised on a 
separate line in the profit and loss statement. 
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2023: 
  

(Amounts in NOK 

million) 

Invest-

ment 

property 

Owner-

occu-pied 

property 

Guaran-

tee 

receiva-

bles Total 

Book value as at 1 

January  24,859.1   108.8   233.1   25,201.0  

Disposals  (52.4)  52.4   -     -    

Additions 1  1,908.8   -     -     1,908.8  

Payments related 

to the rental 

guarantee  -     -     (55.2)  (55.2) 

Fair value 

adjustment 

recognised in 

profit and loss  (3,197.8)  -     47.5   (3,150.3) 

Interest income 

recognised in 

profit and loss  -     -     5.7   5.7  

Fair value 

adjustment 

recognised against 

the revaluation 

reserve  -     (13.6)  -     (13.6) 

Depreciation 

recognised in 

profit and loss  -     (2.7)  -     (2.7) 

Book value as at 31 

December  23,517.7   144.9   231.1   23,893.7  

 
1 Additions are related to the acquisition of the Telegrafen 
property, the adjustments for lessees associated with new 
and renegotiated leases as well as ongoing operational 
investments. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2022:  

(Amounts in NOK 

million) 

Invest-

ment 

property 

Owner-

occu-pied 

property 

Guaran-

tee 

receiva-

bles Total 

Book value as at 1 

January 

     

24,801.3  

            

106.7  

              

234.9      25,143.0  

Disposals -  -  - -  

Additions  263,4   -     -     263,4  

Payments related 

to the rental 

guarantee 

                       

-    

                      

-    

               

(60.5) 

            

(60.5) 

Fair value 

adjustment 

recognised in 

profit and loss 

           

(205.6) 

                      

-    

                 

50.9  

         

(154.7) 

Interest income 

recognised in 

profit and loss 

                       

-    

                      

-    

                    

7.7  

                 

7.7  

Fair value 

adjustment 

recognised against 

the revaluation 

reserve 

                       

-    

                  

3.4  

                        

-    

                 

3.4  

Depreciation 

recognised in 

profit and loss 

                       

-    

                

(1.3) 

                        

-    

               

(1.3) 

Book value as at 31 

December 

     

24,859.1  

            

108.8  

              

233.1      25,201.0  
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Rental income and property expenses related to 
investment properties are stated in the income 
statement. The maturity structure for non-
cancellable leases related to investment property is 
specified in note 16. 

As at 31 December 2023, financial vacancy for the 
investment properties was 4.7 per cent. Operating 
expenses for vacant space and the owner’s share of 
service charge expenses totalled NOK 39.4 million 
for 2023 (NOK 35.5 million).  

Apart from covenants in loan agreements, no 
restrictions apply to the timing of the realisation of 
investment properties or how the revenue from any 
sale can be used.  

Apart from adjustments for lessees and ongoing 
operational investments, the group had no 
significant contractual obligations for construction 
contracts related to investment properties as at 31 
December in 2023 or 2022. 

6.2 - Fair-value assessment 
The following table shows the fair-value assessment 
of properties when using different types of inputs. 

20231: 

(Amounts in NOK million) 

Invest-

ment 

property 

Owner-

occupied 

property 

Guarantee 

receivables 

Given market value for 

corresponding assets and 

liabilities (level 1)1 

                       

-    

                      

-    

                        

-    

Other significant 

observable input (level 2)2  -    

                      

-    

                        

-    

Other significant non-

observable input (level 3)3 23,517.7  

            

144.9  

              

231.1  

Total estimated fair value 23,517.7          144.9               231.1  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

20221:  

(Amounts in NOK 

million) 

Invest-ment 

property 

Owner-

occupied 

property 

Guarantee 

receivables 

Given market value for 

corresponding assets 

and liabilities (level 1)1                        -                          -     -    

Other significant 

observable input (level 

2)2  -     -     -    

Other significant non-

observable input (level 

3)3 24,859.1  108.8  233.1  

Total estimated fair 

value      24,859.1              108.8  233.1  

1 Level 1: valuation based on quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets.  
2 Level 2: valuation based on observable market 
information not covered by level 1. 
3 Level 3: valuation based on information not observable 
under level 2. 

The group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and 
out of fair-value hierarchy levels at the date of the 
event or change in circumstances which caused the 
transfer. There were no transfers between the levels 
during 2023 or 2022. 
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NOTE 7: Other fixed assets 

Changes in other fixed assets are specified in the 
table below. 

 

The group uses linear depreciation. The economic 
life of the assets is set at four years for IT equipment, 
five years for licences, cars and furnishings and 
seven years for other equipment. It is set at 20 years 
for the energy centre at Aker Brygge. 

NOTE 8: Joint ventures 

Norwegian Property owns Nordr together with 
Fredensborg and Union Real Estate Fund III. While 
Norwegian Property and Fredensborg are equal 
partners, each holding 42.5 per cent of the preferred 
shares (A-shares), Union owns 15 per cent of the 
preferred shares (B-shares). Only preferred A-shares 
have voting rights in the general meeting of the 
company. The preferred A and B shares have a pre-
emptive right to payments from the company. C-
shares are entitled to payments from the company 
only after a certain return on invested capital has 
been achieved. C-shares are earmarked for senior 
executives in Nordr, and at the end of 2023 
represent an ownership interest of 0.3 per cent. 
Norwegian Property owns 42.4 per cent of all shares 
in the company.  

Norwegian Property has shared control in Nordr 
through contractual arrangements. The joint venture 
is regulated by a shareholder agreement which 
reflects joint control in all areas related to the 
management of the business. Norwegian Property 
and Fredensborg own an equal share of preferred 
shares with voting rights. There are five board 
members in the holding company of Nordr. The two 
main owners have two representatives each and the 
position as chair is rotated between the two of them 
every two years. 

Nordr has residential units under construction and a 
substantial land bank in Norway and Sweden. The 
land bank is largely located in the largest Norwegian 
and Swedish cities, with an emphasis on eastern 
Norway and the extended Stockholm capital region 
in Sweden. Nordr’s business consists of both wholly 
owned and partly owned plots and projects. Entities 
over which Nordr has control are fully consolidated 
in the accounts for the Nordr group. Nordr’s share of 
joint venture’s net profit and net equity is presented 
in accordance with the equity method in the 
accounts for the Nordr group. 

The property at Forusbeen 35 in Stavanger has been 
reregulated from a commercial building to a 
property with a combined residential and 
commercial purpose. Norwegian Property owns the 
project as a joint venture together with Base Bolig. 

The changes for the year in the balance-sheet item 
on net investment in joint ventures are specified in 
the table below.  

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022 

Book value 1 January               1,061.7               1,084.8  

Capital increase                    13.5                         -    
Share of profit and loss                  (55.8)                    33.8  
Currency changes 1                    30.3                   (58.3) 
Profit for intercompany 
transactions                     (5.1)                     (3.1) 
Dividend received                (106.3)                        -    
Negative book value 
against receivables                     (5.1)                      4.5  
Book value 31 December                  933.2                1,061.7  

1 Currency risk associated with Nordr’s business in Sweden 
is not hedged. 

 

 

(Amounts in NOK million)

  Other 
fixed 

assets  

  Energy 
distri-

bution 
system 

(Aker 
Brygge)    Total  

Acquisition costs:

At 31 December 2021          51.5        44.4         95.9 

Additions 2022           0.7           0.6            1.3 

At 31 December 2022         52.2         45.0         97.2 

Additions 2023           2.7           0.5           3.2 

At 31 December 2023         54.9         45.5       100.4 

Accumulated depreciation:

At 31 December 2021         45.3          15.2         60.5 

Additions 2022           3.0           2.2           5.2 

At 31 December 2022         48.3         17.4         65.7 

Additions 2023           2.2           2.2           4.4 

At 31 December 2023         50.5          19.6         70.1 

Book value:

At 31 December 2022           3.8         27.7          31.5 

At 31 December 2023           4.3         26.0         30.3 
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The group’s share of income in joint ventures is 
specified in the table below. 

2023: 

(Amounts in NOK 
million) Nordr 

Forus- 
been 35 

Total 

Revenues          4,772.1                1.0           4,773.1  
Project cost from sale 
of residential units       (4,766.8)                  -          (4,766.8) 
Other operating 
expenses           (225.6) 

              
(2.9)          (228.4) 

Share of profit in joint 
ventures              74.7                   -                 74.7  
Operating profit           (145.6)             (1.9)           (147.5) 
Net financial items             (51.6)                  -                (51.6) 
Profit before income 
tax           (197.2) 

              
(1.9)            (199.1) 

Income tax               67.2                0.4                67.7  
Profit for the period           (130.0)             (1.5)           (131.4) 
The group's share of 
profit for the period             (55.1) 

              
(0.7)             (55.8) 

The group's share of 
other comprehensive 
income for the period              30.3                   -                 30.3  
The group's share of 
total comprehensive 
income for the period            (24.8) 

              
(0.7)             (25.5) 

2022: 

(Amounts in NOK 
million) Nordr  

Forus-                
been 35 

Total 

Revenues           3,270.6                 1.5            3,272.0  
Project cost from sale 
of residential units 

         
(3,246.8) 

                     
-    

         
(3,246.8) 

Other operating 
expenses 

             
(253.7) 

                  
(5.1) 

            
(258.9) 

Share of profit in joint 
ventures               354.0  

                     
-                  354.0  

Operating profit 
               124.1  

                 
(3.7)                120.4  

Net financial items              (85.4)                   -               (85.4) 
Profit before income 
tax 

                 
38.7  

                 
(3.7) 

                 
35.0  

Income tax                 44.4               0.8                  45.2  
Profit for the period                  83.1             (2.9)                 80.2  
The group's share of 
profit for the period                  35.2              (1.4)                 33.8  
The group's share of 
other comprehensive 
income for the period 

               
(58.3) 

                     
-    

               
(58.3) 

The group's share of 
total comprehensive 
income for the period               (23.1)             (1.4)             (24.5) 

 
 

 

 

The group’s share of equity in joint ventures is 
specified in the table below. 

2023: 

(Amounts in NOK 
million) Nordr  

Forus-                
been 35 

Total 

Investment property                     -                    24.6         24.6  
Other fixed assets                  37.8                       -           37.8  
Investment in joint 
ventures                954.1                       -    

         
954.1  

Land bank and 
residential projects            7,250.4                  112.7  

            
7,363.1  

Receivables             1,257.1                     0.2    1,257.3  
Cash and cash 
equivalents                241.8                     0.1  

               
241.9  

Deferred tax             (467.0)                   1.6    (465.4) 
Interest bearing 
liabilities          (5,216.4) 

              
(117.1) 

         
(5,333.5) 

Other liabilities          (1,874.0)                (0.6) (1,874.6) 
Equity          (2,183.7)               (21.5) (2,205.2) 
The group's share of 
equity              (930.1) 

                  
(3.1) 

             
(933.2) 

2022: 
 

(Amounts in NOK 
million) Nordr  

Forus-                
been 35 

Total 

Investment property                      -                     20.7           20.7  
Other fixed assets                  30.2                       -            30.2  
Investment in joint 
ventures             1,537.1                       -    

            
1,537.1  

Land bank and 
residential projects            9,054.2                 100.2  

           
9,154.4  

Receivables                587.1                     0.1      587.2  
Cash and cash 
equivalents               600.4                     0.3  

              
600.6  

Deferred tax             (403.5)                     1.1    (402.4) 
Interest bearing 
liabilities           (7,127.9) 

             
(126.0) (7,253.9) 

Other liabilities          (1,785.3)                (0.5) (1,785.9) 

Equity          (2,492.1)                    4.0  (2,488.1) 
The group's share of 
equity           (1,061.7)                      -    

          
(1,061.7) 
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NOTE 9: Financial instruments 

Financial assets represent contractual rights for the 
group to receive cash or other financial assets in the 
future. Financial liabilities correspondingly represent 
contractual obligations for the group to make future 
payments. Financial instruments are included in 
several accounting lines in the group’s balance sheet 

and income statement, and they are classified in 
different categories in accordance with their 
accounting treatment.  

The carrying amount of financial instruments in the 
group’s balance sheet is considered to provide a 
reasonable expression of their fair value, with the 
exception of interest-bearing debt. The fair value of 
interest-bearing debt is described in note 13.  

A specification of the group’s financial instruments is presented below. 

20231: 

  Financial 
instruments at fair 

value through profit 
or loss Amortised cost 

Non-financial 
assets and         

liabilities Total 
  
(Amounts in NOK million) 

Financial assets:         

Non-current derivatives                      147.6                            -                              -                         147.6  

Non-current receivables                      231.1                            -                              -                         231.1  

Current receivables                           -                        654.7                       122.3                      777.0  

Current derivatives                          3.6                            -                              -                             3.6  

Cash and cash equivalents                           -                         325.6                            -                         325.6  

Financial liabilities:         

Non-current derivatives                           -                              -                              -                              -    

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities                           -                   10,777.8                            -                   10,777.8  

Other non-current liabilities                           -                              -                             2.6                           2.6  

Current derivatives                         9.8                            -                              -                            9.8  

Current interest-bearing liabilities                           -                      3,210.6                            -                      3,210.6  

Other current liabilities                           -                        300.5                         37.7                       338.1  

Profit/loss related to financial instruments:         

Financial income                           -                          42.3                            -                          42.3  

Financial cost                           -                      (483.9)                           -                      (483.9) 

Change in market value of financial instruments                        (3.9)                           -                              -                           (3.9) 

Gain/loss recognised in comprehensive income:         

Recognised in comprehensive income                           -                              -                              -                              -    
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20221: 

  Financial 
instruments at fair 

value through profit 
or loss Amortised cost 

Non-financial 
assets and    

liabilities Total 
  
(Amounts in NOK million) 

Financial assets:         

Non-current derivatives                      161.6                            -                              -                         161.6  

Non-current receivables                      233.1                            -                              -                         233.1  

Current receivables                           -                         131.4                       136.6                      268.0  

Current derivatives                          1.9                            -                              -                             1.9  

Cash and cash equivalents                           -                         185.1                            -                         185.1  

Financial liabilities:         

Non-current derivatives                        18.2                            -                              -                           18.2  

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities                           -                    10,351.6                            -                    10,351.6  

Other non-current liabilities                           -                              -                            2.0                          2.0  

Current derivatives                           -                              -                              -                              -    

Current interest-bearing liabilities                           -                      1,834.1                            -                      1,834.1  

Other current liabilities                           -                         209.1                        40.4                      249.5  

Profit/loss related to financial instruments:         

Financial income                           -                           17.2                            -                           17.2  

Financial cost                           -                       (375.6)                           -                       (375.6) 

Change in market value of financial instruments                      172.2                            -                              -                         172.2  

Gain/loss recognised in comprehensive income:         

Recognised in comprehensive income                           -                              -                              -                              -    

 

1 Accounting items not specified in the table hereinabove, but that are included in the group’s financial statements, do not 
contain financial instruments. 

 

NOTE 10: Derivatives 

10.1 - Specification of derivatives in the 
financial statements 
The group is subject to interest-rate risk related to 
floating rate loans. The general policy in accordance 
with the applicable loan agreements is that at least 
60 per cent of the group’s interest-bearing debt at 
any time will be hedged.  

Derivatives are carried at fair value. A specification of 
the derivatives in the balance sheet as at 31 
December is shown in the following. 

 

 

 

2023: 

(Amounts in NOK million) Assets Liabilities 

Interest rate hedging contracts            147.6                   -    

Exchange rate hedging contracts                  -                     -    

Derivatives, non-current assets/liabilities            147.6                   -    

Interest rate hedging contracts                3.6                 9.8  

Exchange rate hedging contracts                  -                     -    

Derivatives, current assets/liabilities                3.6                 9.8  

Total derivatives            151.2                 9.8  
Net financial derivatives in the balance 
sheet              141.4  
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2022: 

(Amounts in NOK million) Assets Liabilities 

Interest rate hedging contracts  161.6   18.2  

Exchange rate hedging contracts  -   -   

Derivatives, non-current assets/liabilities  161.6   18.2  

Interest rate hedging contracts  1.9   -   

Exchange rate hedging contracts  -   -   

Derivatives, current assets/liabilities  1.9   -   

Total derivatives  163.5   18.2  
Net financial derivatives in the balance 
sheet  145.3  

Changes for the year to net derivatives in the 
balance sheet are specified in the table below. 

10.2 - Interest-rate derivatives 
A specification of principal amounts per currency for 
the group’s interest-rate derivatives as at 31 
December is presented below. The maturity 
structure for the derivatives is specified in note 3. 

Currency 2023 2022 

Notional principal amount NOK    3,450.0     3,950.0  

The floating interest rate is three-months Nibor for 
all contracts. 

Gains and losses for hedge accounting contracts are 
recognised in other comprehensive income until the 
underlying hedged loan is repaid. 

10.3 - Fair value of derivatives 
Fair value is established on the basis of the following 
methods:  

- Level 1: valuation based on quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets.

- Level 2: valuation based on observable
market information not covered by level 1.

- Level 3: valuation based on information not
observable under level 2.

All financial derivatives in the balance sheet relate to 
interest-rate swap agreements, where fair value is 
determined in accordance with level 2. 

The group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and 
out of fair-value hierarchy levels at the date of the 
event or change in circumstances which caused the 
transfer. No transfers were made between the levels 
in 2023 or 2022. 

NOTE 11: Receivables 

11.1 - Current receivables 
Current receivables in the balance sheet as at 31 
December are specified in the table below. 

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022 
Accounts receivable         32.2     31.2  

Provision for impairment of receivables        (4.8) (10.0) 

Net accounts receivable        27.4     21.2  

Interest-bearing receivables1       627.3   110.2  

Public duties         17.4       5.0  

Other current receivables      104.9   131.7  

Total other current receivables      749.6  246.8  

Total current receivables      777.0  268.0  

1 Related to the receivables on joint ventures (NOK 152.3 
million) and investments in property related bonds (NOK 
475 million), see note 25.  

11.2 - Non-current receivables 
Non-current receivables as at 31 December are 
specified in the table below.  

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022 

Rent guarantee receivables (see note 6)       231.1  233.1  

Total non-current receivables       231.1  233.1  

NOTE 12: Other liabilities 

12.1 - Other current liabilities 
Other current liabilities as at 31 December are 
specified in the table below. 

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022
Net book value of derivatives, 1 
January               145.3               (26.9)
Net fair value adjustments of 
derivatives during the year (3.9)                172.2 
Net book value of derivatives, 31 
December                141.4               145.3 
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(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022 

Trade payables            47.5             50.5  
Public duties              7.9             11.0  

Accrued salaries              7.0               6.9  

Accrued interest          136.6             96.9  

Lease liability (see note 7)              0.6               0.7  

Prepaid income            22.7             22.5  

Accrued cost and other debts           115.7             61.0  
Total other current liabilities          338.1           249.5  

12.2 - Other non-current liabilities 
Other non-current liabilities as at 31 December are 
specified in the table below.  

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022 

Lease liability (see note 7)             0.8               0.1  

Pension liabilities (see note 19)              1.8               1.9  

Total other non-current liabilities              2.6               2.0  

 

NOTE 13: Interest-bearing debt 

The table below presents an overview as at 31 
December of the group’s interest-bearing debt, 
including share of the interest exposure hedged, 
average interest rate and remaining duration. 

    2023 2022 
Total interest-bearing debt (NOK 
million)      13,988.4        12,185.7  
Share of the interest exposure 
hedged (per cent)1              63.9               70.1  
Cash and cash equivalents (NOK 
million)            325.6              185.1  
Interest bearing receivables (NOK 
million)            627.3              110.2  
Unutilised credit facilities (NOK 
million)        3,086.4          1,157.0  
Average interest rate (per cent)              4.39               3.48  
Average interest margin (per cent)               1.53                1.36  
Remaining time to maturity for 
interest-bearing debt (years)                2.8                 3.8  
Remaining time to maturity for 
interest hedge agreements (years)                4.8                 5.6  

1 Include all interest-rate swaps and loans with fixed rate 
which had commenced at the balance-sheet date. 

Group interest-bearing non-current and current debt 
as at 31 December is specified in accordance with 
the type of debt in the table below. 

 

2023: 

(Amounts in 
NOK million) Long-term Short-term Total 
Bonds        3,025.0          2,615.0         5,640.0  
Bilateral loan        4,542.0                    -           4,542.0  
Bank borrowings 
(loan facilities)        3,225.0            600.0         3,825.0  
Total interest-
bearing debt      10,792.0          3,215.0       14,007.0  
Accrued 
financial items            (14.2)              (4.4)            (18.6) 
Total book value 
interest-bearing 
debt      10,777.8          3,210.6       13,988.4  
Fair value 
of bonds1        3,025.0         2,618.8         5,643.8  
Fair value 
of bank 
borrowings1        3,233.8             599.0         3,832.7  

2022: 

(Amounts in 
NOK million) Long-term Short-term Total 
Bonds        5,640.0            400.0        6,040.0  
Bilateral loan        3,542.0                    -           3,542.0  
Bank borrowings 
(loan facilities)         1,174.5         1,434.5         2,609.0  
Total interest-
bearing debt      10,356.5         1,834.5        12,191.0  
Accrued 
financial items              (4.9)              (0.5)              (5.3) 
Total book value 
interest-bearing 
debt       10,351.6          1,834.1        12,185.7  
Fair value 
of bonds1        5,640.7            403.2         6,043.9  
Fair value 
of bank 
borrowings1         1,166.3         1,430.9         2,597.2  

1 The fair value of bonds is based on given market values for 
corresponding assets and liabilities (level 1). The fair value 
of bank borrowings is based on other significant non-
observable input (level 3). 
Level 1: valuation based on quoted prices in active markets 
for identical assets. Level 2: valuation based on observable 
market information not covered by level 1. Level 3: 
valuation based on information not observable under level 
2. 
The group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of 
fair value hierarchy levels at the date of the event or change 
in circumstances which caused the transfer. There were no 
transfers between the levels during 2023 or 2022. 

The total fair value of interest-bearing debt consists 
of bonds valued at their market price as at 31 
December and bank loans at estimated fair value, 
where account is taken of the estimated difference 
between the current margin and market conditions. 
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Annual group accounts 49 

Changes for the year to interest-bearing debt in the 
balance sheet are specified in the table below. 

2023: 

(Amounts in NOK 
million) Long-term Short-term Total 
Interest-bearing 
debt as of 1 
January      10,356.5         1,834.6        12,191.0  
New debt        3,650.5                    -           3,650.5  
Repayment of debt                   -         (1,834.6)      (1,834.6) 
Reclassification of 
debt       (3,215.0)         3,215.0                    -    
Interest-bearing 
debt as of 31 
December      10,792.0          3,215.0       14,007.0  
Accrued financial 
items            (14.2)              (4.4)            (18.6) 
Book value of 
interest-bearing 
debt      10,777.8          3,210.6       13,988.4  

2022: 

(Amounts in 
NOK million) Long-term Short-term Total 
Interest-bearing 
debt as of 1 
January        9,582.6         2,420.6       12,003.2  
New debt        2,078.5                    -           2,078.5  
Repayment of 
debt                   -         (1,890.6)      (1,890.6) 
Reclassification 
of debt      (1,304.6)        1,304.6                    -    
Interest-bearing 
debt as of 31 
December      10,356.5         1,834.6        12,191.0  
Accrued 
financial items              (4.9)              (0.5)              (5.3) 
Book value of 
interest-bearing 
debt       10,351.6          1,834.1        12,185.7  

 
The maturity structure of the group’s long-term 
interest-bearing debt as at 31 December is specified 
in the table below (short-term interest-bearing debt 
falls due within one year from the balance-sheet 
date).  

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022 
Due in 2024 (2023)         3,215.0         1,834.5  
Due in 2025 (2024)        3,970.0          2,615.0  
Due in 2026, 2027 and 2028 
(2025, 2026 and 2027)        3,280.0          4,199.5  
Due after 2028 (after 2027)        3,542.0         3,542.0  
Total      14,007.0        12,191.0  

The carrying amount of group assets pledged as 
security as at 31 December is specified in the table 
below. 

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022 
Investment property1      23,666.0       24,936.0  
Total      23,666.0       24,936.0  
Liabilities secured      14,007.0        12,191.0  

 
1 Properties with a carrying amount of NOK 228 million as at 
31 December 2023 were not pledged for interest-bearing 
debt (NOK 265 million). 

A portfolio of bonds totalling NOK 5.6 billion are 
secured by properties and listed on the Oslo Stock 
Exchange. Bilateral loans of NOK 4.5 billion are not 
listed. None of the bonds have running terms related 
to financial covenants. All the bonds have change of 
control clauses, and the requirement of a maximum 
of 65 per cent LTV on the mortgaged building at the 
time of borrowing. 
 
The security for bank facilities is shared with the 
bondholders. The bank facilities are subject to 
annual renewal. The most important terms for all 
these facilities are a minimum interest-rate hedge 
ratio of 50 per cent, interest cover of at least 1.4 and 
a maximum LTV of 75 per cent. Agreed 
requirements in the loan agreements were met at 
year-end 2023 and 2022 as well as all quarterly 
interim reporting dates in 2023 and 2022. 
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The group’s loan facilities as of 31 December 2023 are specified in the table below. 

(Amounts in NOK million) Security (property) 
Due 

(year) Drawn amount Short-term loan Long-term loan 
Undrawn 

amount 
Bond NPRO07 Fondbygget 2024 500.0  500.0  - -     
Bond NPRO08 Fondbygget 2024 450.0  450.0  -   -   
Bond NPRO09 Drammensveien 60 2024 400.0  400.0  -   -   
Bond NPRO14 Kaibygning I 2026 350.0  - 350.0 -   
Bond NPRO15 Kaibygning I 2024 300.0  300.0  -   -   

Bond NPRO16 
Bryggegata 9/ 
Støperiet 2024 505.0  505.0  -   -   

Bond NPRO17 Lille Grensen 7 2024 460.0  460.0  -   -   
Bond NPRO19 Verkstedhallene 2025 975.0  - 975.0 -   
Bond NPRO20 Terminalbygget 2025 700.0  - 700.0 -   
Bond NPRO21 Snarøyveien 36 2026 650.0  - 650.0 -   
Bond NPRO22 Kaibygning I 2026 150.0  - 150.0 -   
Bond NPRO23 Terminalbygget 2026 200.0  - 200.0 -   
Bond unlisted Smarøyveien 30 2030 3,542.0  - 3,542.0 -   
Bond unlisted Telegrafen 2026 1,000.0  - 1,000.0 -   
RCF SEB Property portfolio 1 2025 500.0  - 500.0 6.5  
RCF Swedbank Property portfolio 2 2025 595.3  - 595.3 -   
RCF DNB Property portfolio 3 2024 600.0  600.0  - (28.9)
RCF DNB Verkstedhallene 2026 264.8  - 264.8 408.7  
RCF DNB Terminalbygget 2026 400.0  - 400.0 276.2  
RCF DNB Lille Grensen 7 2026 -   -   -   375.1  
Term loan SEB Kaibygning I 2026 530.0  - 530.0 -   
Term loan SEB Kaibygning I 2025 500.0  - 500.0 -   
RCF SEB Fondbygget 2026 -   -   -   898.9  
RCF SEB Kaibygning I 2026 -   -   -   300.0  

Term loan Swedbank/SR-Bank 
Sandakerveien 138/ 
140 2025 435.0  - 435.0 -   

Term loan Swedbank Drammensveien 60 2026 -   -   -   367.4  

Term loan Swedbank 
Bryggegata 9/ 
Støperiet 2026 -   -   -   482.6  

Total interest-bearing debt, 31 December 2023                 14,007.0  3,215.0                  10,792.0  3,086.4  
Accrued financial items (18.6) (4.4) (14.2) 
Book value of interest-bearing debt, 31 December 2023                 13,988.4  3,210.6                  10,777.8  
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NOTE 14: Deferred tax and income tax 

Changes for the year to deferred tax appear as follows: 

(Amounts in NOK million) 
Investment 

property1 
Gain and  loss 

account 
Carry forward 

losses 
Financial 

derivatives Other Total2 

Book value as at 1 January 2022          2,083.2                24.2            (414.2)                (5.9)             (1.5)          1,685.8  

Recognised through profit and loss             (39.0)               (3.0)              213.5                37.9              (2.7)             206.8  

Recognised through comprehensive income                 0.7                    -                      -                      -                      -                    0.7  

Book value as at 31 December 2022         2,045.0                 21.2            (200.8)               32.0             (4.2)          1,893.3  

Acquired in asset acquisitions3                   -                      -                     (112.1)                      -                      -    
                  

(112.1)    

Recognised through profit and loss           (541.7)                 3.7               117.5                (0.8) 3.5            (417.8) 

Recognised through comprehensive income 
                  

(3.0)                      -                      -                      -                      -    
                  

(3.0)    

Book value as at 31 December 2023          1,500.3                24.9              (195.3)                31.1             (0.7)          1,360.5  

 
1 The tax value totalled NOK 9 billion as at 31 December 2023. Theoretical deferred tax in the event that all the properties are sold 
at fair value amounts to about NOK 3.3 billion. The difference from estimated deferred tax for investment property reflects the 
recognition exception in IAS 12.15 for the purchase of assets.  

2 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented net when the group has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same taxation authority. All group limited companies are 
included in the tax group and registered in Norway. Deferred tax benefits related to interest deductions carried forward amounts 
to NOK 318.5 million at the end of 2023, and they are not expected to be utilised. Therefore, they are not accounted for in the 
balance sheet. 
3 Related to the acquisition of the Telegrafen property. 

The table below specifies the income tax for the 
group on payable and deferred taxes, respectively, 
and the calculation of income tax expense based on 
income before tax. 
 

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022 

Profit before income tax:    (2,765.8)         502.5  

Income tax calculated at 22 per cent       (608.5)         110.6  
Share of profit/loss at associates and 
jointly controlled entities           12.3            (7.4) 

Other permanent differences           (11.3)            (1.7) 
Effect of negative revaluation below 
cost on asset acquisitions          84.2          (66.2) 
Changes in interest deductions carry-
forward         105.6           171.6  

Deferred tax       (417.8)        206.8  

Payable tax               -              (0.1) 

Income tax       (417.8)         206.7  

 

 

NOTE 15: Segment information 

Operating segments are reported in a manner 
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision maker CODM). The CODM, 
who is responsible for allocating resources and 
assessing the performance of the operating 
segments, has been identified as the senior 
management team. 

Norwegian Property’s primary business is the 
ownership and management of commercial 
properties in the Oslo region. The company owns 
42.5 per cent of the preferred shares in the 
residential development company Nordr. The 
Forusbeen 35 property at Forus in Stavanger is 
reregulated from a commercial building to a 
property with a combined residential and 
commercial purpose. Norwegian Property owns 50 
per cent of the project. 

The segmentation of operating profit, excluding the 
administrative owner costs, reflects the division into 
commercial property and residential property 
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segments. A similar division has also been made for 
all balance sheet items apart from those related to 
group functions, financing of the group and tax 
positions. 

For investment property, discrete financial 
information is provided on a property-by-property 
basis to members of executive management, who 
collectively comprise the CODM. The information 

provided is on a net rental basis (including gross rent 
and property expenses), valuations gains/losses, 
profit/loss on disposal of investment property and 
share of profit from the joint ventures. Group 
administrative costs, finance revenue, finance costs 
and income taxes are not reported to the members 
of the executive management team on a segment 
basis. There are no sales between segments.

 
Segment information related to the income statement items for 2023 is specified in the table below. 

(Amounts in NOK million) 
Commercial               

properties 
Residential                 
properties 

Group Total 

Revenue1  1,109.6   -     -     1,109.6  

Total property-related expenses2  (156.4)  -     -     (156.4) 

Administrative expenses2  -     -     (63.9)  (63.9) 

Depreciation  -     -     (3.6)  (3.6) 

Share of profit in joint ventures  (0.5)  (55.3)  -     (55.8) 
Change in fair value of investment property 
and rental guarantee  (3,150.3)  -     -     (3,150.3) 

Operating profit  (2,197.7)  (55.3)  (67.5)  (2,320.4) 

Financial income    42.3   42.3  

Financial expenses    (483.9)  (483.9) 

Change in fair value of interest derivatives    (3.9)  (3.9) 

Profit before income tax    (512.9)  (2,765.9) 

Income tax     417.8   417.8  

Profit for the period    (95.1)  (2,348.1) 
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Annual group accounts 53 

Segment information related to income statement items for 2022 is specified in the table below.   

(Amounts in NOK million) 
Commercial               

properties 
Residential                 
properties 

Group Total 

Revenue1  1,014.4   -     -     1,014.4  

Total property-related expenses2  (140.4)  -     -     (140.4) 

Administrative expenses2  -     -     (59.9)  (59.9) 

Depreciation  (2.2)  -     (2.2)  (4.4) 

Share of profit in joint ventures  (1.1)  34.8   -     33.8  
Change in fair value of investment property 
and rental guarantee  (154.7)  -     -     (154.7) 

Operating profit  716.0   34.8   (62.1)  688.8  

Financial income    17.2   17.2  

Financial expenses    (375.6)  (375.6) 

Change in fair value of interest derivatives    172.2   172.2  

Profit before income tax    (248.3)  502.5  

Income tax     (206.6)  (206.6) 

Profit for the period    (454.9)  295.9  

1 The largest customer for the commercial property business is Telenor Real Estate AS, which is a tenant of the property at 
Snarøyveien 30 and annual rental income amounts to NOK 183.7 million for 2023 (NOK 169.7 million). No rental income from 
other individual customers constitutes more than 10 per cent of total revenue.
2 Excluding depreciation which is specified separately. 

Segment information related to balance-sheet items as at 31 December 2023 is specified in the table below. 

(Amounts in NOK million) 
Commercial 

properties 
Residential 
properties 

Group Total 

Investment property                  23,662.6                              -                                -           23,662.6  

Other fixed assets                         26.3                              -                              4.0                  30.3  

Investment in joint ventures                             -                          933.2                              -                  933.2  

Receivables                    1,008.1                              -                                -               1,008.1  

Cash and cash equivalents                             -                                -                          325.6                325.6  

Deferred tax                             -                                -                      (1,360.5)         (1,360.5) 

Financial derivative instruments                             -                                -                          141.4                141.4  

Interest bearing liabilities                              -                                -                   (13,988.4)     (13,988.4) 

Other liabilities                     (144.4)                             -                         (196.4)            (340.7) 

Total equity                     (10,411.6)        (10,411.6) 
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Segment information related to balance-sheet items as at 31 December 2022 is specified in the table below. 

(Amounts in NOK million) 
Commercial 

properties 
Residential 
properties 

Group Total 

Investment property  24,967.9   -   -    24,967.9  

Other fixed assets  29.3   -    2.1   31.5  

Investment in joint ventures - 1,061.7 - 1,061.7 

Receivables  501.1   -   -    501.1  

Cash and cash equivalents  -   -    185.1   185.1  

Deferred tax  -   -    (1,893.3)  (1,893.3) 

Financial derivative instruments  -   -    145.3   145.3  

Interest bearing liabilities   -   -    (12,185.7)  (12,185.7) 

Other liabilities  (115.3) - (136.1)  (251.4) 

Total equity  (12,562.1)  (12,562.1) 

NOTE 16: Contractual rental income 

Norwegian Property’s operating income in 2023 
totalled NOK 1,009.6 million (NOK 1,014.4 million). 

The group’s commercial properties are located in 
the Oslo region. They primarily consist of office 
premises with associated warehousing and parking 
space. Some of the properties include space for 
letting as retail outlets and restaurants. Offices 
account for the bulk of all the larger properties. At 
Aker Brygge in central Oslo, the properties are 
located by the sea with a small associated marina 
business, outdoor areas and an energy centre which 
uses seawater for the heating/cooling of the 
properties. 

Total revenue is distributed as follows in the various 
areas described hereinabove. 

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022 
Income relating to fixed lease 
payments for commercial 
properties     1,056.9         963.4  

Income relating to variable 
lease payments from retail and 
restaurant customers for 
commercial properties           13.5            11.0  

Other variable income related 
to the marina, outdoor areas 
and energy centre at Aker 
Brygge in Oslo          39.2          40.0  

Total revenues      1,109.6      1,014.4  

Tenants comprise commercial companies and 
public-sector institutions of different types and sizes. 

Rental income is based on leases of varying lengths, 
where income based on the leases is recognised on 
a linear basis over the duration of the lease. Rental 
income is generally invoiced quarterly in advance 
with 30 days to pay. Income from the marina relates 
to rental charges by the season, by the day, for 
events etc. Income for the energy centre is invoiced 
to the tenants who are connected to it. 

The group’s lease-based rental income is distributed 
as follows, where the figures are given as lease 
values without index adjustment for leases entered 
into as at 31 December. 

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022 

Within 1 year        1,232.6        1,097.0  

Between 1 and 2 years        1,128.3        1,046.6  

Between 2 and 3 years          974.0           802.2  

Between 3 and 4 years          840.9           647.9  

Between 4 and 5 years          660.8            521.1  

Later than 5 years       2,415.4        2,758.6  

Total        7,251.9        6,873.3  

Service charges are recognised net as an agent of 
the tenant. Therefore, the operating revenues do not 
include service charges invoiced to the tenants. 
Accrued service charges are recognised in the 
balance sheet together with payments on account 
from tenants. The settlement of service charges is 
made after the balance-sheet date. Service charges 
invoiced to tenants in 2023 amounted to NOK 230 
million (NOK 178 million). 
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NOTE 17: Net realised financial items 

The table below presents a specification of the 
income statement item on realised net financial 
items. 

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022 
Interest income on bank 
deposits and receivables            34.6               9.5  
Interest income on guarantee 
receivables (see note 6)              7.7               7.7  

Total financial income            42.3              17.2  

Interest expense on borrowings        (483.9)         (375.6) 

Total financial expenses        (483.9)         (375.6) 

Net financial items        (441.6)        (358.4) 

 

NOTE 18: Operating expenses 

A specification of the operating expenses in the 
income statement is provided below. 

18.1 - Property-related operational 
expenses 
Property-related expenses include the administrative 
costs related to the management of the properties 
as well as the operating and maintenance costs. 

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022 

Administrative management costs        13.9         12.2  

Operating and maintenance costs        68.6         61.6  
Total property-related operational 
expenses        82.5         73.8  

 

18.2 - Other property-related expenses 
Other property-related expenses include income-
related costs related to leasing, marketing etc., the 
owner’s share of service charges, project-related 
property costs and depreciation related to the 
properties. 

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022 
Rental, market and other income-related 
expenses        34.6         33.4  

Owner's share of service charge expenses        39.4         35.5  

Total other property-related expenses        73.9        68.8  

 
18.3 - Administrative owner expenses 

Administrative expenses relate to costs which are 
not directly related to the operation and leasing of 

properties, and they include the costs related to the 
overall ownership and corporate functions. 

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022 

Payroll expenses (see note 21)        99.1        88.5  

Depreciation          3.6           2.2  

Other operating expenses        21.5        20.4  

Costs allocated to property costs      (56.7)      (49.0) 

Total administrative expenses        67.5         62.1  

 

NOTE 19: Payroll costs and 
remuneration of executive officers 
and the auditor 

The tables below present a breakdown of payroll 
costs and remuneration of directors, senior 
executives and auditors. 

19.1 - Payroll costs 

Payroll costs for the year are as follows. 

 

Pursuant to the Norwegian Act on Mandatory 
Occupational Pensions, Norwegian Property ASA is 
required to operate certain pension plans. The 
group has plans which satisfy these requirements 
(defined contribution plan for all employees).  

The group has a controlling interest in Bryggedrift AS 
(see note 24), which has an individual defined 
benefit pension obligation of NOK 1.8 million to a 
former employee funded from operations. 

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022
86.9 73.3
16.4 20.5

3.6 3.2
2.0 1.8

         108.9            98.8 

              64                62 

               66                62 

               63                62 

Total payroll cost
Number of employees at 31 
December
Number of full-time equivalent 
positions in the financial year
Average number of employees 
in the financial year

Salaries and remuneration
Social security costs
Pension costs for defined 
contribution plans
Other employee expenses
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19.2 - Auditor’s fee 

Fees paid to the company’s elected auditor EY are 
shown in the table below. The fees are net of VAT 
(amounts in NOK). 

Type of fees 2023 2022 

Statutory audit   1,120,000       832,500  

Other certification services        65,000                  -    

Tax/VAT advice                 -                    -    

Other services                 -                    -    

Total   1,185,000       832,500  

 
19.3 - Directors’ fees 

Fees to directors in 2023 are presented in the table 
below. 

 

1 Reported benefits paid in 2023 (amounts in NOK). In 
addition to that are the employer’s National Insurance 
contributions.  

Fees to directors in 2022 are presented in the table 
below. 

 

1 Reported benefits paid in 2022 (amounts in NOK). In 
addition to that are the employer’s National Insurance 
contributions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Name
Remune-

ration1

    700,000 

    250,000 

    250,000 
    250,000 
       62,500 
   1,512,500 

Bjørn Henningsen, chair 01.01-31.12
Cecilie Astrup Fredriksen, director 01.01-
31.12
Kathrine Astrup Fredriksen, director 01.01-
31.12
Lars Erich Nilsen, director 01.01-31.12
Lars Buin, director 31.12-21.04
Total

Name
Remune-

ration1

     637,500 

    250,000 

    250,000 
    250,000 
     187,500 
     175,000 
       62,500 
       62,500 
  1,875,000 

Lars Buin, director 22.04-31.12
Merete Haugli, chair 01.01-22.04
Carl Erik Krefting, director 01.01-22.04
Anders Buchardt,  director 01.01-22.04
Total

Bjørn Henningsen, chair 22.04-31.12 and 
deputy chair 01.01-22.04
Cecilie Astrup Fredriksen, director 01.01-
31.12
Kathrine Astrup Fredriksen, director 01.01-
31.12
Lars Erich Nilsen, director 01.01-31.12
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19.4 - Remuneration of senior management 

Remuneration of senior management in 2023 is specified in the table below. 

Name Title Salary1 Bonuses1 
Share based 

payment expense2 Other benefits1 

Pension/ 
insurance  

benefits3 

Bent Oustad CEO  4,018,221   2,887,500   -     4,392   109,423  
Haavard 
Rønning CFO  3,155,540   1,272,321   -     9,589   112,806  

Bjørge Aarvold 
EVP property 
management  2,186,875   597,464   -     124,392   126,528  

Ellen Cathrine 
Kobro 

EVP sales and 
marketing  2,502,351   602,679   -     5,288   114,928  

Sindre Kornrud EVP projects  2,053,330   508,929   -     4,392   111,422  
Vidar Stokke-
land4 EVP development  1,843,259   195,833   -     12,016   109,718  
Thomas 
Weeden 

EVP bus. dev. and 
strategy  2,183,570   541,647   -     4,392   110,453  

Total    17,943,146   6,606,373   -     164,461   795,278  

 
1 Applies to salary for 2023 and bonus for 2022 paid in 2023 (amounts in NOK). In addition to that are the employer’s National 
Insurance contributions. 
2 Amount expensed in the accounts for 2023. 
3 Contribution paid to defined contribution pension plans and employee insurance in 2023 (amounts in NOK). 
 

Remuneration of senior management in 2022 is specified in the table below: 

Name Title Salary1 Bonuses1 
Share based 

payment expense2 Other benefits1 

Pension/ 
insurance     

benefits3 

Bent Oustad CEO              4,097,999               2,700,000                        3,826                      14,391                    104,182  
Haavard 
Rønning CFO              2,783,228                1,332,533                               -                          9,157                    103,821  

Bjørge Aarvold 
EVP property 
management               2,097,241                   576,100                               -                      130,392                     116,172  

Ellen Cathrine 
Kobro 

EVP sales and 
marketing               2,225,361                  647,000                               -                       10,838                    104,155  

Sindre Kornrud EVP projects               1,882,687                  548,400                               -                          4,392                   102,544  
Vidar Stokke-
land4 EVP development                  783,333                               -                                 -                          5,229                      43,134  
Thomas 
Weeden 

EVP bus. dev. and 
strategy               2,001,718                  400,000                               -                          4,392                    101,569  

Total               15,871,567               6,204,033                        3,826                    178,791                   675,577  

1 Applies to salary for 2022 and bonus for 2021 paid in 2022 (amounts in NOK) In addition to that are the employer’s National 
Insurance contributions. 
2 Amount expensed in the accounts for 2022. See note 20.4 for information about the options exercised in 2022. 

3 Contribution paid to defined contribution pension plans and employee insurance in 2022 (amounts in NOK). 
4 Started 1 August 2022. 
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NOTE 20: Share capital and 
shareholders 

The table below specifies the average number of 
shares in the past two years, the group’s largest 
shareholders and the shares owned by the directors 
and senior executives as at 31 December. 

20.1 - Changes in share capital and 
average number of shares 

  2023 2022 
Average number of shares      
(1,000 shares)          649,826           649,826  

Number of shares issued at 31 
December (1,000 shares)          649,826           649,826  

 

20.2 - The group’s main shareholders as 
at 31 December 

At year-end 2023, the company had a share capital 
of NOK 331,411,054 divided into 649,825,596 shares, 
each with a par value of NOK 0.51. The company 
owns 6,250,000 treasury shares. Geveran Trading 
Co. Ltd. owns the remaining 643,575,596 shares in 
the company. 

An equity issue of NOK 500 million were carried out 
in 2023 as part of the financing of the Telegrafen 
property acquisition. The share capital was 
increased by NOK 6,498,255, from NOK 324,912,798 
to NOK 331,411,054, by increasing the nominal value 
of each of the issued shares by NOK 0.01, from NOK 
0.50 to NOK 0.51. No new shares were issued. 

20.3 - Shares held by senior executives 
and directors as at 31 December 

The directors Cecilie Astrup Fredriksen, Kathrine 
Astrup Fredriksen and Lars Erich Nilsen are related 
to Geveran Trading Co Ltd, which is the company’s 
sole proprietor at the end of 2023 and 2022. 

20.4 - Share options 

Share options are granted to the CEO. Each share 
option entitles the holder to subscribe for a share in 
Norwegian Property ASA. The option agreement with 
the CEO was entered into in 2017 and entitles him to 
subscribe to a total of 5,750,000 shares. As an 

alternative to delivering shares, the board of 
Norwegian Property may opt to settle the profit in 
cash. The agreement otherwise contains normal 
conditions on such matters as continued 
employment and adjustment of share prices and so 
forth as a result of corporate events.  
 
The total fair value of share options granted in 2017 
was NOK 11.2 million (excluding the employer’s 
National Insurance contribution). The fair value is 
calculated by external valuers based on the Black-
Scholes model. The share price at the grant date was 
NOK 10.45. All 5,750,000 options were exercised in 
2022 for subsequent settlement in accordance with 
the option agreement by agreement with the 
company's board. The weighted average exercise 
price adjusted for dividends for the period is NOK 
10.81 per option. 

20.5 - Revaluation reserve 

A revaluation reserve of NOK 5.5 million (net loss) 
related to owner occupied property is included in 
retained earnings as at 31 December 2023 (profit of 
NOK 39 million). 

NOTE 21: Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing 
the net profit attributable to shareholders with the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year.  

 

1 Both at the end of 2023 and 2022, the group owned 
6,250,000 treasury shares. 
2 The diluted number of shares has been adjusted for 
options granted. 

2023 2022
Net profit attributable to shareholders 
(NOK million)    (2,348.1)         295.9 
Weighted average number of 
outstanding shares, exclusive treasury 

shares (million shares)1         643.6         643.6 
Weighted average number of diluted 
outstanding shares, exclusive treasury 

shares (million shares)2         647.1         647.1 
Basic earnings per share (NOK per 
share)         (3.65)           0.46 
Diluted earnings per share (NOK per 
share)         (3.63)           0.46 

pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share-based%20payment%20arrangements%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20share%20capital,%20reserves%20and%20other%20equity%20interest%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20earnings%20per%20share%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20earnings%20per%20share%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20earnings%20per%20share%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20earnings%20per%20share%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20earnings%20per%20share%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20earnings%20per%20share%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20earnings%20per%20share%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20earnings%20per%20share%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20earnings%20per%20share%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20earnings%20per%20share%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20earnings%20per%20share%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
area://table
area://table


Norwegian Property ASA  Annual report 2023 
 

 
Annual group accounts 59 

NOTE 22: Dividend per share and 
dividend policy 

Norwegian Property’s goal is to pay a dividend to its 
shareholders amounting to 30-50 per cent of its 
ordinary profit after tax payable but before fair-value 
adjustments. The dividend can be higher in times 
with good cash flow. Before a dividend is 
determined, an assessment is made of the group’s 
financial position and prospects, including the 
availability of attractive investment opportunities. 

The board has a mandate from the group’s AGM to 
make quarterly dividend payments. A dividend of 
NOK 0.13 per share was approved by the board 
meeting on 1 February 2024. 

NOTE 23: Related-party disclosures 

Parties are related if one party can exercise 
significant influence over the group in making 
strategic or operating decisions. Significant 
influence is normally obtained by ownership, 
participation in decision-making bodies and 
management or by agreements.  

Balances and transactions with subsidiaries (which 
are related parties of Norwegian Property ASA) are 
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements 
and are not covered by the information given in this 
note. Financial relationships related to the board and 
senior management are described in notes 19 and 
20. 

A management fee of NOK 1.6 million has been 
expensed in 2023 from a company related to the 
shareholder Geveran Trading Co. Ltd. 

No other agreements or significant transactions with 
related parties were carried out in 2023. 

NOTE 24: Contingent liabilities and 
assets  

The group has a liability if it is committed to giving 
up financial resources to another party at a future 
date. An uncertain liability is a liability of uncertain 
timing or amount. A contingent liability is a category 
of uncertain liabilities, where the possible obligation 
depends on whether some uncertain future events 
occur which the group cannot fully influence. 
Similarly, a contingent asset relates to the possible 

rights for the group to receive financial resources at 
a future date.  

Guarantees relating to the sale of 
properties and companies  

The seller normally issues guarantees relating to the 
sale of properties because of formal, physical and 
suchlike conditions related to the transferred 
properties and/or companies. The guarantees 
typically include conditions related to legal status, 
ownership of shares, validity of financial statements 
and tax issues, contractual issues, liens, 
environmental matters, insurance coverage, 
assessment of defects etc. The seller must typically 
cover the financial losses incurred by the buyer from 
any errors or omissions which may be linked to the 
guarantees.  

Norwegian Property has issued this kind of 
guarantee to buyers in relation to the sale of 
properties/companies since the group was 
established. As at the end of 2023 and 2022, the 
assessment is that there are no circumstances 
which entail an obligation for Norwegian Property 
and a need to make provisions. 

NOTE 25: Events after the balance-
sheet date  

Events after the balance-sheet date are events, 
favourable or unfavourable, which occur between 
the balance-sheet date and the date when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue. Such 
events can be events which provide information on 
the conditions existing at the balance-sheet date, 
thereby resulting in adjustments to the financial 
statements, or events which do not require such 
adjustments. 

In the fourth quarter of 2023, Norwegian Property 
invested in an unlisted junior bond loan amounting 
to NOK 475 million with ML 33 Holding AS as the 
borrower (see note 11.1). ML 33 Holding AS owns the 
shares in the company Martin Linges vei 33 AS that 
owns the property at Martin Linges vei 33 on 
Fornebu. The shares in ML 33 Holding AS are 
pledged as security for the junior bond loan. In the 
first quarter of 2024, the borrower is in breach of the 
terms of the loan agreement. Norwegian Property 
has taken over all the shares in ML 33 Holding AS on 
18 March 2024. Norwegian Property guarantees for 
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an equity issue of NOK 500 million in ML 33 Holding 
AS. The former shareholders in the company are 
given the opportunity to subscribe for up to 20 
percent of the equity issue. The transaction in 2024 
is considered not to require any adjustments to the 
financial statements as of 31 December 2023.  

In accordance with the mandate from the AGM in 
2023, the board decided on 1 February 2024 that a 
dividend of NOK 0.13 per share will be paid for 2023. 

No other significant events have occurred after 31 
December 2023 which provide information on the 
conditions existing as at the balance-sheet date. 

NOTE 26: Group companies 

The consolidated financial statements of Norwegian 
Property ASA comprise the following wholly-owned 
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023: 

Aker Brygge AS 
Aker Brygge Business Village AS 
Aker Brygge Energisentral AS  
Aker Brygge Marina AS 
Aker Brygge Marina Drift AS 
Aker Brygge Uteareal AS 
Bryggegata 9 AS 
Bydel Aker Brygge Forvaltning AS 
Dokkbygningen Aker Brygge AS 
Drammensveien 60 AS 
Fondbygget AS 
Gardermoen Næringseiendom AS 
Gardermoen Næringseiendom KS 
Gjerdrums vei 10 G AS 
Gjerdrums vei 5 AS 
Gjerdrums vei 8 AS 
Gjerdrums vei 14-16 AS 
Gjerdrums vei 17 AS 
Gjerdrums vei 3 AS 
Grensen Investment AS 
Gullhaug Torg 3 AS 
Gullhaugveien 9-13 AS 
Hasle Linje Bygg 01 AS 
Nye Hasle Linje Bygg 01 Næring AS 
Kaibygning 1 AS 
Kaibygning 2 AS 
K21 Holding AS 
Lille Grensen 7 Andel AS 
Lille Grensen 7 ANS 

Lille Grensen 7 AS 
Norwegian Property ASA 
NPRO 1 AS 
NPRO 2 AS 
NPRO Drift AS 
NPRO Holding AS 
NPRO Invest AS 
Nydalsveien 15-17 AS 
Sandakerveien 130 AS 
Snarøyveien 30 AS 
Snarøyveien 36 AS 
Stranden AS 
Støperiet AS 
Telegrafen Invest AS 
Telegrafen Holding AS 
Terminalbygget Aker Brygge AS 
Tingvalla AS 
Verkstedhallene AS 
All subsidiaries have the same business address as 
Norwegian Property ASA (Bryggegata 3, NO-0250 
Oslo, Norway).  
 
In addition to its wholly-owned subsidiaries, the 
Norwegian Property group has a controlling interest 
in Bryggedrift AS (business address Støperigata 1, 
NO-0250 Oslo, Norway), which is responsible for 
certain operating services and management of 
condominiums at Aker Brygge in Oslo. Bryggedrift 
AS is a facility management company without 
significant assets. All condominiums at Aker Brygge 
are shareholders in Bryggedrift AS, and Norwegian 
Property - as a participant in the condominiums - 
had a controlling interest in Bryggedrift AS as at 31 
December 2023 on the basis of the ownership 
structure of the condominiums. Norwegian Property 
is represented on the board of Bryggedrift AS by two 
of the five directors. 

Norwegian Property owns Nordr together with 
Fredensborg and Union Real Estate Fund III. While 
Norwegian Property and Fredensborg are equal 
partners, each holding 42.5 per cent of the preferred 
shares, Union owns 15 per cent of the preferred 
shares (see note 8). 

Norwegian Property also owns a 50 per cent share in 
the property at Forusbeen 35 together with Base 
Bolig (see note 8). 

 

pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20events%20after%20reporting%20period%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20events%20after%20reporting%20period%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20events%20after%20reporting%20period%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20events%20after%20reporting%20period%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20events%20after%20reporting%20period%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20events%20after%20reporting%20period%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20events%20after%20reporting%20period%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20events%20after%20reporting%20period%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20events%20after%20reporting%20period%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20events%20after%20reporting%20period%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20events%20after%20reporting%20period%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20events%20after%20reporting%20period%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20subsidiaries%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20joint%20ventures%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20joint%20ventures%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20joint%20ventures%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20joint%20ventures%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20joint%20ventures%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20joint%20ventures%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20joint%20ventures%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20joint%20ventures%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20joint%20ventures%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d
pp://Notes/Disclosure%20of%20notes%20and%20other%20explanatory%20information%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d+Notes/Disclosure%20of%20joint%20ventures%5btaxonomy=ESEF%5d


Norwegian Property ASA Annual report 2023 

Annual accounts of the parent company 61 

Annual accounts of the parent 
company 

Income statement 1 Jan-31 Dec 
(Amounts in NOK million) Note 2023 2022
Management and service fee from group companies 3 62.2 53.3 
Total operating revenue 62.2 53.3 
Payroll costs 4 (99.1) (92.8) 
Depreciation 8 (0.9) (0.9) 
Other operating costs 4 (33.3) (24.5) 
Total operating costs (133.3) (118.2) 
Operating profit (71.1) (64.9) 
Financial income 5 1,001.1              892.7 
Financial expenses 5 (937.5) (648.8)               
Net financial items 63.6 243.9 
Profit before tax (7.5) 179.1 
Income tax expense 6 1.3 (34.4) 
Profit for the year (6.2) 144.7 

Proposed allocations:
Dividend distribution to shareholders (84.5) (80.4) 
Transferred to/from share premium (90.7) 64.2 



Norwegian Property ASA Annual report 2023 

Annual accounts of the parent company 62 

Balance sheet as at 31 Dec 

Oslo, 2 April 2024 
Norwegian Property ASA 

(Amounts in NOK million) Note 2023 2022
ASSETS
Non-current assets:
Deferred tax assets 12 159.5 166.8 
Financial derivative instruments 7 147.6 161.6 
Tangible assets 8 4.0 2.1 
Investments in subsidiaries 9 3,193.9 6,200.2 
Total non-current assets 3,504.9 6,530.8 
Current assets:
Financial derivative instruments 7 3.6 1.9 
Intercompany balances 3 13,517.6 8,556.0 
Other receivables 3.0 2.3 
Cash and cash equivalents 12 232.5 159.7 
Total current assets 13,756.7 8,719.9 
TOTAL ASSETS 17,261.6 15,250.6 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity:
Share capital 328.3 321.8 
Share premium 2,682.8 2,521.6 
Total equity 10 3,011.2 2,843.5 
Non-current liabilities:
Financial derivative instruments 7 - 18.2 
Interest-bearing debt 11 10,777.8 10,350.7 
Other long-term debt 0.8 0.1 
Total non-current liabilities 10,778.6 10,369.0 
Current liabilities:
Financial derivative instruments 7 9.8 - 
Interest-bearing debt 11 3,210.6 1,834.4 
Provision for dividend 10 84.5 80.4 
Other current liabilities 12 167.0 123.2 
Total current liabilities 3,471.9 2,038.1 
Total liabilities 14,250.4 12,407.2 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 17,261.6 15,250.6 
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Cash flow statement 1 Jan-31 Dec 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Amounts in NOK million) Note 2023 2022
Ordinary profit before tax (7.5)                      179.1                    
Net financial items 5 (63.6)                    (243.9)                  
Interest received 5 1,005.0                720.5                   
Other financial income received 5 0.0                       0.1                       
Interest paid 5 (897.4)                 (626.6)                  
Other financial expenses paid 5 (9.8)                      (10.4)                    
Depreciation of tangible assets 8 0.9                       0.9                       
Changes in other current items 0.1                       1.5                        
Net cash flow from operating activities 27.7                     21.2                      
Purchase of tangible assets 8 (2.7)                      (0.3)                      
Capital increase in subsidiaries 9 (4,000.0)             (8,000.0)             
Repayment of intercompany balances 3 2,053.2                8,173.3                
Net cash flow from investment activities (1,949.5)               173.0                   
Repayment of interest-bearing debt 11 (1,889.0)              (1,889.0)              
New interest-bearing debt 11 3,705.5                2,078.5                
Dividends paid 10 (321.8)                  (514.9)                  
Share issue 10 499.7                   -                      
Net cash flow from financing activities 1,994.4                (325.4)                  
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 72.7                     (131.2)                   
Cash and cash equivalents 1 January 11 159.7                    290.9                   
Cash and cash equivalents 31 December 11 232.4                   159.7                    
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NOTE 1: General information  

The Norwegian Property ASA real estate group 
primarily owns commercial properties in the Oslo 
region. Norwegian Property also owns a share (joint 
venture) in the residential development company 
Nordr. In Stavanger, Norwegian Property has a joint 
venture for the development of a property with a 
combined residential and commercial purpose. 

The holding company, Norwegian Property ASA, is a 
public limited company with its headquarters at 
Bryggegata 3, Oslo (Norway). 

The financial statements were adopted by the board 
on 2 April 2024 for final approval by the AGM in 2024. 

NOTE 2: Summary of significant 
accounting policies 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with the Norwegian Accounting Act and Norwegian 
generally accepted accounting principles.  

The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied 
to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.  

2.1 - Classifications  
Assets held for sale or for use in the ordinary 
business cycle, or owned mainly for trade, or 
expected to be realised within 12 months, or 
representing cash and cash equivalents are 
classified as current assets. All other assets are 
classified as non-current assets. Liabilities which are 
expected to be settled in the ordinary course of 
business, are mainly held for trade or are expected 
to be settled within 12 months are classified as 
current liabilities. All other liabilities are classified as 
non-current liabilities.  

2.2 - Subsidiaries  
The cost method is applied to investments in other 
companies. The cost price is increased when funds 
are added through capital increases or when group 
contributions are made to subsidiaries. The received 
dividends are initially taken to income. Dividends 
exceeding the portion of retained equity after the 
purchase are reflected as a reduction in purchase 
cost. The dividend/group contribution from 

subsidiaries are reflected in the same year as the 
subsidiary makes a provision for the amount. 
Dividends from other companies are reflected as 
financial income when it has been approved.  

2.3 - Tangible assets 
Impairment tests are carried out if there is an 
indication that the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds the estimated recoverable amount. The test 
is performed on the lowest level of fixed assets at 
which independent cashflows can be identified. If 
the carrying amount is higher than both the fair 
value less cost to sell and value in use (net present 
value of future use/ownership), the asset is written 
down to the highest of fair value less the cost to sell 
and the value in use. 

2.4 - Trade receivables  
Trade receivables and other receivables are 
recognised initially at par, less provision for 
impairment. Provision for the impairment of trade 
receivables is based on individual assessments of 
each receivable.  

2.5 - Cash and cash equivalents  
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, 
bank deposits, other current highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months 
or less and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are 
shown under borrowings in current liabilities in the 
balance sheet.  

2.6 - Share capital, share premium and 
share options 
Shares are classified as equity when there is no 
obligation to transfer cash or other assets. Costs 
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 
tax, from the proceeds. Treasury shares are 
recognised at par.  

Employee options represent rights for employees to 
subscribe for shares in the company at a future time 
at a predetermined subscription price (subscription 
right). Drawing requires continued employment. The 
fair value of employee benefits received in exchange 
for the granting of options is recognised as an 
expense. The total amount to be expensed over the 
vesting period reflects the fair value of the options 
granted. On the balance-sheet date, the company 
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revises the estimates of the number of options 
expected to be utilised and changes in estimates are 
recognised in the income statement over the 
remaining vesting period with a corresponding 
adjustment of equity. The value of allotted shares 
after the deduction of directly-linked transaction 
costs is credited to share capital and share premium 
reserve when exercisable options are exercised. 

2.7 - Borrowings 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net 
of the transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. Any differences between 
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption value are recognised in the income 
statement over the duration of the borrowings.  

2.8 - Interest expense 
Interest expenses on borrowings are recognised 
under the financial costs in the income statement 
using the effective interest-rate method. This 
method is used to allocate amortised cost on 
financial assets and financial liabilities as well as the 
correct accrual of interest income and interest 
expense. The effective interest rate allocates future 
cash flows throughout the duration of the loan and 
indicates the real net value of the financial asset or 
liability. 

When calculating the effective interest rate, the 
group estimates all contractual cash flows related to 
the financial instrument (such as terms of payment) 
but does not take future loss into account. When 
calculating the effective interest rate, all the fees are 
included and distributed over the relevant period 
(term to maturity).  

2.9 - Management fees and other 
operating revenue  
Management fees charged to subsidiaries relate to 
property management, managing customer centres 
and financial management. Management fees are 
recognised when they are earned.  

2.10 - Derivatives 
The group is exposed to interest-rate risk related to 
floating rate loans. The company uses forward rate 
agreements to reduce interest-rate risk. Unrealised 

profits/losses related to these contracts are 
recognised in the income statement.  

2.11 - Pensions 
Norwegian Property ASA operates a defined 
contribution plan for all employees. A defined 
contribution pension plan is a scheme where the 
group pays fixed (defined) amounts to a separate 
legal entity. The group has no legal or other 
obligations to pay further amounts if the entity has 
insufficient assets to make all the payments due to 
employees under rights earned in current or 
previous periods. Contributions are recognised as 
an employee benefit expense when they fall due. 
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to 
the extent that cash refunds or reductions in future 
payments are available. 

2.12 - Income tax 
Tax in the income statement consists of tax payable 
and changes in deferred tax. Deferred income tax is 
calculated at the applicable rate based on the 
temporary differences between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities as well as their carrying 
amounts in the consolidated financial statements 
and the tax loss carried forward as at 31 December. 
Tax increasing or reducing temporary differences 
which are reversed or can be reversed in the same 
period are offset. Deferred tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary 
differences can be utilised.  

2.13 - Use of estimates 
The preparation of the income statement in 
accordance with the generally accepted Norwegian 
accounting principles requires the use of estimates 
and assumptions which affect the income statement 
and the valuation of assets and liabilities as well as 
the information related to contingent assets and 
liabilities as at the balance-sheet date.  

Contingent losses which are probable and 
quantifiable are recognised as they occur.  

2.14 - Cash flow statement 
The preparation of the cash flow statement is based 
on the indirect method.  
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NOTE 3: Related-party disclosures 

All transactions, agreements and business 
relationships with related parties are made on 
normal commercial terms.  

Financial relationships related to the board and 
senior management are described in notes 4 and 10. 

A management fee of NOK 1.6 million has been 
expensed in 2023 from a company related to the 
shareholder Geveran Trading Co. Ltd. 

Income-statement and balance-sheet items related 
to group companies are specified in the table below. 

NOTE 4: Payroll costs and 
remuneration of executive officers 
and the auditor 

The payroll cost for the year is as follows. 

Pursuant to the Norwegian Act on Mandatory 
Occupational Pensions, Norwegian Property ASA is 
required to operate certain pension plans. The 
company has plans which satisfy these requirements 
(defined contribution plan for all employees).  

Fees paid to the company’s elected auditor EY are 
shown in the table below. The fees are net of VAT 
(amounts in NOK). 

Fees to directors in 2023 are presented in the table 
below. 

1 Reported benefits paid in 2023 (amounts in NOK). In 
addition to that are the employer’s National Insurance 
contributions. 

Fees to directors in 2022 are presented in the table 
below. 

1 Reported benefits paid in 2022 (amounts in NOK). In 
addition to that are the employer’s National Insurance 
contributions. 

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022
Income statement:
Management and service fee, group 
companies 62.2       53.3       
Rental cost, subsidiaries (6.9)        (4.3)        
Interest income from group companies 
(note 5) 104.1     104.1     
Balance sheet:
Investments in subsidiaries (note 9) 3,193.9   6,200.2  
Current assets, intercompany balances 13,517.6 8,556.0  

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022
Salaries and remuneration 78.6 69.2
Social security costs 15.1 19.2
Pension costs (defined 
contribution plan) 3.2 2.8
Other employee expenses 2.2 1.6
Total payroll costs              99.1             92.8 
Number of employees at 31 
December 55 52 
Number of full-time equivalent 
positions in the fiscal year 55 49 
Average number of employees in 
the fiscal year 54 52 

Type of fees 2023 2022
Statutory audit 638,750   295,000   
Other certification services 45,000      -   
Tax/VAT advice -           -           
Other services -           -           
Total 683,750   295,000   

Name
Remune-

ration1

    700,000 

    250,000 

    250,000 
    250,000 
       62,500 
   1,512,500 

Bjørn Henningsen, chair 01.01-31.12
Cecilie Astrup Fredriksen, director 01.01-
31.12
Kathrine Astrup Fredriksen, director 01.01-
31.12
Lars Erich Nilsen, director 01.01-31.12
Lars Buin, director 31.12-21.04
Total

Name
Remune-

ration1

     637,500 

    250,000 

    250,000 
    250,000 
     187,500 
     175,000 
       62,500 
       62,500 
  1,875,000 

Lars Buin, director 22.04-31.12
Merete Haugli, chair 01.01-22.04
Carl Erik Krefting, director 01.01-22.04
Anders Buchardt,  director 01.01-22.04
Total

Bjørn Henningsen, chair 22.04-31.12 and 
deputy chair 01.01-22.04
Cecilie Astrup Fredriksen, director 01.01-
31.12
Kathrine Astrup Fredriksen, director 01.01-
31.12
Lars Erich Nilsen, director 01.01-31.12
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Remuneration of senior management in 2023 is specified in the table below. 

1 Applies to salary for 2023 and bonus for 2022 paid in 2023 (amounts in NOK). In addition to that are the employer’s National 
Insurance contributions. 
2 Amount expensed in the accounts for 2023. 
3 Contribution paid to defined contribution pension plans and employee insurance in 2023 (amounts in NOK). 

Name Title Salary1 Bonuses1

Share based 
payment 
expense2 Other benefits1

Pension/ 
insurance 

benefits3

Bent Oustad CEO 4,018,221          2,887,500         - 4,392 109,423             
Haavard 
Rønning CFO 3,155,540          1,272,321           - 9,589 112,806             
Bjørge 
Aarvold

EVP property 
management 2,186,875          597,464             - 124,392 126,528             

Ellen 
Cathrine 
Kobro

EVP sales and 
marketing 2,502,351          602,679             - 5,288 114,928             

Sindre 
Kornrud EVP projects 2,053,330          508,929             - 4,392 111,422              
Vidar Stokke-
land EVP development 1,843,259          195,833             - 12,016 109,718             
Thomas 
Weeden

EVP bus. dev. and 
strategy 2,183,570          541,647             - 4,392 110,453             

Total 17,943,146        6,606,373          - 164,461 795,278             
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Remuneration of senior management in 2022 is specified in the table below: 

1 Applies to salary for 2022 and bonus for 2021 paid in 2022 (amounts in NOK). In addition to that are the employer’s National 
Insurance contributions. 
2 Amount expensed in the accounts for 2022. See note 10.4 for information about the options exercised in 2022. 

3 Contribution paid to defined contribution pension plans and employee insurance in 2022 (amounts in NOK). 
4 Started 1 August 2022. 

NOTE 5: Net financial items 

Net financial items for the year are as follows. 

NOTE 6: Deferred tax and income tax 

The tax expense for the year in the income 
statement and deferred taxes in the balance sheet 
are as follows. 

Name Title Salary1 Bonuses1

Share based 
payment 
expense2 Other benefits1

Pension/ 
insurance 

benefits3

Bent Oustad CEO 4,097,999          2,700,000         3,826 14,391 104,182             
Haavard 
Rønning CFO 2,783,228          1,332,533           - 9,157 103,821             
Bjørge 
Aarvold

EVP property 
management 2,097,241          576,100             - 130,392 116,172              

Ellen 
Cathrine 
Kobro

EVP sales and 
marketing 2,225,361           647,000            - 10,838 104,155             

Sindre 
Kornrud EVP projects 1,882,687          548,400            - 4,392 102,544             
Vidar Stokke-
land4 EVP development 783,333             - - 5,229 43,134 
Thomas 
Weeden

EVP bus. dev. and 
strategy 2,001,718          400,000           - 4,392 101,569              

Total 15,871,567         6,204,033         3,826 178,791              675,577             

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022
Financial income:
Interest income from group 
companies 104.1    104.1    
Other interest income 900.9    616.4    
Changes in value of financial 
derivative instruments        (3.9)      172.2 
Other financial income 0.0        0.1        
Total financial income 1,001.1  892.7    
Financial expenses:
Interest cost on loans (927.7)   (638.4)  
Other financial expenses (9.8)       (10.4)     
Total financial expenses (937.5)   (648.8)  
Net financial items 63.6      243.9    
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NOTE 7: Derivatives 

7.1 - Derivatives in the annual accounts 
The company is exposed to interest-rate risk related 
to loans with floating interest rates, and interest-rate 
hedge agreements have been entered into in order 
to reduce the interest-rate risk. Unrealised 
gains/losses associated with such agreements are 
recognised in the income statement.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The fair value of derivatives is determined by the net 
present value of future cash flows, calculated using 
quoted interest-rate curves and exchange rates as at 
the balance-sheet date. The technical calculations 
are generally prepared by the company’s banks. The 
company checks and tests the valuation for 
reasonableness. The fair value of the company’s 
derivatives as at 31 December is specified in the 
table below. 

2023: 

 

2022: 

 

7.2 - Interest-rate derivatives 
The majority of Norwegian Property’s floating-rate 
loans are hedged with interest-rate hedges. 
Norwegian Property has a policy of hedging a 
minimum of 70 per cent of the interest-bearing debt 
outstanding at any given time. Despite the hedging 
positions, the company’s financial assets and cash 
flow will be exposed to fluctuations in the applicable 
market interest rate. Because of these fluctuations, 
the interest-rate cost will vary. Notional principal 
amounts for the company’s interest-rate hedges as 
at 31 December are specified in the table below. The 
maturity dates are broken down in note 11. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022
The tax expense for the year is 
distributed as follows:
Tax payable -             -             
Changes in deferred tax (1.3)             34.4           
Income tax expense (1.3)             34.4           

Calculation of the tax base for the year:
Profit before tax (7.5)             179.1           
Permanent differences 1.6               (22.8)          
Changes in temporary differences (8.9)            (194.1)         
Group contribution 39.3            1,008.5      
Tax base for the year 24.5            970.6         
Specification of temporary differences 
and deferred tax:
Tangible assets (1.2)             (3.9)             
Financial derivative instruments 141.4          145.3          
Provisions 22.9            12.8            
Tax loss carried forward (888.0)       (912.5)         
Basis for deferred tax (724.8)        (758.3)        
Deferred tax in the balance sheet 159.5          166.8          
Reconciliation of tax expense and 
calculated effective tax rate:
Calculated tax expense on profit before 
tax (22 per cent) (1.6)             39.4            
Permanent differences 0.4              (5.0)            
Tax payable -             -             
Income tax expense (1.3)             34.4           
Effective tax rate (per cent) 17.2            19.2            

(Amounts in NOK million) Assets Liabilities
Interest-rate contracts 151.2           9.8              

(Amounts in NOK million) Assets Liabilities
Interest-rate contracts 163.5          18.2            

Currency 2023 2022
Notional principal 
amount NOK 3,450.0  3,950.0   
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NOTE 8: Tangible assets 

Changes in tangible assets are specified in the table 
below. 

 

The company uses linear depreciation. The 
economic life of the assets is four years for IT 
equipment, five years for licences, cars and 
furnishings as well as seven years for fixtures. 

NOTE 9: Investments in subsidiaries 

Investments in subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 
are specified in the table below. The companies own 
the group’s properties (single-purpose entities). 

 

1 Voting ownership interest is identical to ordinary 
ownership. 

Changes in the book value for the year are as 
follows. 

 

NOTE 10: Equity 

10.1 - Change in equity 
Changes in the balance-sheet items for equity are 
specified in the table below. 
 

 

1 The share capital of NOK 331,411,054 consisted as at 31 
December 2023 of 649,825,596 shares, each with a par 
value of NOK 0.51. 
2 The holding of treasury shares as at 31 December 2023 
was 6,250,000 shares. 

 

 

(Amounts in NOK 
million)

IT-systems 
and other 
intangible 

assets

Fixtures 
and 

equipment Total
Acquisition cost:
At 31 December 2021              2.1              2.1              4.2 
Additions              0.2              0.1              0.3 
At 31 December 2022              2.2              2.3              4.5 
Additions              1.4              1.3              2.7 
At 31 December 2023              3.6              3.6              7.2 
Accumulated 
depreciation:
At 31 December 2021             0.4              1.0              1.4 
Depreciation and 
impairment for the year             0.4              0.5              0.9 
At 31 December 2022             0.8              1.5              2.4 
Depreciation and 
impairment for the year 0.5                        0.4              0.9 
At 31 December 2023              1.3              1.9              3.2 
Book value:
At 31 December 2022              1.4              0.7              2.1 
At 31 December 2023              2.3              1.7             4.0 

NPRO 
Holding AS

NPRO 
Invest AS Npro 1 AS

Acquired/ 
established Date 17.01.07 26.09.13 23.11.20
Business office City Oslo Oslo Oslo

Share1 Per cent 100.0         100.0         100.0         
Book value NOK mill. 3,193.7       0.1              0.1              

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022
Book value at 1 January 6,200.2       4,986.8       
Investments in subsidiaries 4,000.0      8,000.0      
Dividends (7,000.0)     (6,000.0)     
Group contribution recognised 
against shares in subsidiaries (6.3)              (786.6)         
Book value at 31 December 3,193.9        6,200.2       

(Amounts in NOK 
million)

Share 
capital1

Own 
shares2

Share 
premium

Total
equity

Equity at 31 
December 2021 324.9        (3.1)            2,698.7     3,020.5     
Paid dividend -            -            (241.3)       (241.3)       
Dividend 
appropriation -            -            (80.4)        (80.4)        
Transactions with 
share-holders -            -            (321.8)       (321.8)       

Profit for the year -            -            144.7        144.7        

Profit for the year -            -            144.7        144.7        
Equity at 31 
December 2022 324.9        (3.1)            2,521.6      2,843.5     
Paid dividend -            -            (241.3)       (241.3)       
Share issue 6.5             -            493.2        499.7        
Dividend 
appropriation -            -            (84.5)         (84.5)         
Transactions with 
share-holders 6.5             -            167.4         173.9         

Profit for the year -            -            (6.2)           (6.2)           

Profit for the year -            -            (6.2)           (6.2)           
Equity at 31 
December 2023 331.4         (3.1)            2,682.8     3,011.2      
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10.2 - The company’s largest 
shareholders as at 31 December 
At year-end 2023, the company had a share capital 
of NOK 331,411,054 divided into 649,825,596 shares, 
each with a par value of NOK 0.51. The company 
owns 6,250,000 treasury shares. Geveran Trading 
Co. Ltd. owns the remaining 643,575,596 shares in 
the company. 

An equity issue of NOK 500 million were carried out 
in 2023 as part of the financing of the Telegrafen 
property acquisition. The share capital was 
increased by NOK 6,498,255, from NOK 324,912,798 
to NOK 331,411,054, by increasing the nominal value 
of each of the issued shares by NOK 0.01, from NOK 
0.50 to NOK 0.51. No new shares were issued. 

10.3 - Shares held by senior executives 
and directors as at 31 December 
The directors Cecilie Astrup Fredriksen, Kathrine 
Astrup Fredriksen and Lars Erich Nilsen are related 
to Geveran Trading Co Ltd, which is the company’s 
sole proprietor at the end of 2023 and 2022. 

10.4 - Share options 
Share options are granted to the CEO. Each share 
option entitles the holder to subscribe for a share in 
Norwegian Property ASA. The option agreement with 
the CEO was entered into in 2017 and entitles him to 
subscribe to a total of 5,750,000 shares. As an 
alternative to delivering shares, the board of 
Norwegian Property may opt to settle the profit in 
cash. The agreement otherwise contains normal 
conditions on such matters as continued 
employment and adjustment of share prices and so 
forth as a result of corporate events.  

The total fair value of share options granted in 2017 
was NOK 11.2 million (excluding the employer’s 
National Insurance contribution). The fair value is 
calculated by external valuers based on the Black-
Scholes model. The share price at the grant date was 
NOK 10.45. All 5,750,000 options were exercised in 
2022 for subsequent settlement in accordance with 
the option agreement by agreement with the 
company's board. The weighted average exercise 
price adjusted for dividends for the period is NOK 
10.81 per option. 

NOTE 11: Interest-bearing debt and 
financial risk management  

11.1 - Interest-bearing debt 
The table below presents an overview as at 31 
December of the company’s interest-bearing debt, 
including hedging ratio, average interest rate and 
remaining term to maturity. 

 

1 Include all interest-rate swaps which had commenced at 
the balance-sheet date. 

The company’s interest-bearing non-current and 
current debt as at 31 December is specified in the 
tables below. 

2023: 

 

2022: 

 

2023 2022

Interest-bearing debt (NOK million) 13,988.4 12,185.2 
Interest hedging ratio (per cent)1 63.9         70.1        
Cash and cash equivalents (NOK 
million) 232.5       159.7      
Unutilised credit facilities (NOK 
million) 3,086.4   1,157.0   
Average interest rate (per cent) 4.39        3.48       
Average interest margin (per cent) 1.53         1.36        
Remaining time to maturity for 
interest-bearing debt (years) 2.8          3.8          
Remaining time to maturity for 
interest hedge agreements (years) 4.8          5.6          

(Amounts in NOK million)
Long-

term
Short-

term Total
Bonds 3,025.0   2,615.0       5,640.0 
Bilateral loan 4,542.0   -             4,542.0 
Bank borrowings (loan facilities) 3,225.0   600.0         3,825.0 
Total interest-bearing debt 10,792.0 3,215.0   14,007.0 
Capitalised borrowing cost (14.2)       (4.4)                (18.6)
Total book value interest-bearing 
debt 10,777.8 3,210.6   13,988.4 

(Amounts in NOK million)
Long-

term
Short-

term Total
Bonds 5,640.0   400.0        6,040.0 
Bilateral loan 3,542.0   -             3,542.0 
Bank borrowings (loan facilities) 1,174.5    1,434.0      2,608.5 
Total interest-bearing debt 10,356.5  1,834.0  12,190.5  
Capitalised borrowing cost (5.8)         0.4                   (5.3)
Total book value interest-bearing 
debt 10,350.7 1,834.4  12,185.2  
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All bonds are secured by properties and a NOK 5.6 
billion portfolio of bonds are listed on the Oslo Stock 
Exchange. None of the bonds have running terms 
related to financial covenants. All the bonds have 
change of control clauses, and the requirement of a 
maximum of 65 per cent LTV on the mortgaged 
building at the time of borrowing. 

The security for bank facilities is shared with 
bondholders. The bank facilities are subject to 
annual renewal. The most important terms for all 
these facilities are a minimum interest-rate hedge 
ratio of 50 per cent, interest cover of at least 1.4 and 
a maximum LTV of 75 per cent. Agreed 
requirements in the loan agreements were met at 
year-end 2022 and 2021 as well as all quarterly 
interim reporting dates in 2023 and 2022. 

Maturities for the company’s non-current interest-
bearing debt as at 31 December are broken down in 
the table below. 

 

The carrying amount of assets pledged as security 
for debt as at 31 December is as follows. 

 

1 Shares in property companies owned by other group 
entities are also pledged as security for the corporate 
facilities in Norwegian Property ASA. See also note 13 to the 
group’s financial statements. 
2 Properties owned by the subsidiaries have been pledged 
as security for bonds. 

 

 

 

11.2 - Financial risk management 
The company’s activities imply exposure to a variety 
of financial risks: market, credit and liquidity. 

Market risk 
Market risk for the company is primarily related to 
the interest-rate risk. The company’s revenues relate 
entirely to management fees from subsidiaries. 

The company is exposed to interest-rate risk related 
to floating rate loans. To manage interest-rate risk, 
the group has entered into interest-rate swap 
agreements. Notional principal amounts and the 
maturity structure for the company’s overall portfolio 
of interest-rate hedges as at 31 December are 
specified in NOK million in the table below. 

 

Credit risk  
The company’s receivables mainly relate to 
intercompany balances, where credit risk is 
considered low.  

Liquidity risk  
The company aims to ensure that liquidity/credit 
facilities are sufficient to meet its foreseeable 
obligations. In addition, it will have a reasonable 
capacity to meet unforeseen obligations. One goal is 
that the liquidity reserve should consist as far as 
possible of available revolving credit and overdraft 
facilities, rather than cash and cash equivalents. The 
company’s liquidity reserve as at 31 December is 
specified in the table below. 

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022
Due in 2025 and 2026 (2024 and 
2025)     3,970.0    5,464.5 
Due in 2027, 2028 and 2029 (2026, 
2027 and 2028)    3,280.0    1,350.0 
Due after 2029 (after 2028)     3,542.0    3,542.0 
Total   10,792.0   10,356.5 

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022
Investment in subsidiaries1      3,193.9    6,200.2 
Total      3,193.9    6,200.2 
Liabilities secured2 3,825.0   2,608.5  

Year 2023 2022
< 1 year       (1,050.0)          (500.0)
1-2 years         (400.0)       (1,050.0)
3-5 years          (500.0)          (600.0)
Over 5 years       (1,500.0)       (1,800.0)
Notional principal amount       (3,450.0)       (3,950.0)
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1 Subsidiaries’ deposits in the parent company’s group cash 
pool system are included as cash and cash equivalents in 
Norwegian Property ASA. 

As described hereinabove, the company has a high 
level of hedging against changes in market interest 
rates, reducing the need for liquidity reserves to 
meet unforeseen obligations related to these areas. 
Liquidity risk primarily relates to servicing 
instalments on and maturity of liabilities.  

The table below specifies the company’s liabilities in 
accordance with the maturity structure. The 
classification is based on the timing of maturities 
specified in the contracts. The amounts in the table 
specify the timing of the repayments of notional 
principal amounts (NOK million). 

20231:  

 

20221:  

 

1 The difference between the carrying amount and 
expected cash flow reflects the capitalised and estimated 
interest cost based on the average interest rate as at 31 
December. The difference between the carrying amount 
and expected cash flow for other liabilities relates to 
provision for hedge contracts. 

NOTE 12: Other current liabilities 

Other current liabilities as at 31 December are 
specified in the table below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022
The company's own accounts 
and net balance in the group 
accounts 10,174.6   4,583.7    
Intercompany net balance in the 
group accounts1 (9,942.1)   (4,424.0)  
Cash and cash equivalents 232.5        159.7        
Restricted bank deposits            (3.5)            (5.6)
Available cash and cash 
equivalents

        229.0         154.2 

Unused credit and overdraft 
facilities

    3,086.4       1,157.0 

Liquidity reserve      1,386.0       1,311.2 

(Amounts in NOK million)

Interest-
bearing 

debt
Other 

liabilities
< 1 year 3,759.3     167.0        
1-2 year 4,356.6    
3-5 year 3,818.5    
Over 5 year 3,775.2     
Expected cash flow 15,709.7   167.0        
Book value 13,988.4  167.0        

(Amounts in NOK million)

Interest-
bearing 

debt
Other 

liabilities
< 1 year 2,226.3     123.2        
1-2 year 2,929.9     
3-5 year 4,689.3    
Over 5 year 3,850.2    
Expected cash flow 13,695.7   123.2        
Book value 12,185.2   123.2        

(Amounts in NOK million) 2023 2022
Public duties 6.1              8.4             
Accrued salaries 6.3             6.2             
Accrued interest 114.9          84.5           
Trade payables 2.5             1.1              
Other payables 37.1            23.1            
Total other current 
liabilities 167.0         123.2          
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NOTE 13: Contingent liabilities 

Norwegian Property ASA has no substantial 
contingent liabilities through guarantees or other 
circumstances arising in the ordinary course of 
business. 

NOTE 14: Events after the balance-
sheet date 

Events after the balance-sheet date are events, 
favourable or unfavourable, which occur between 

the balance-sheet date and the date when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue. Such 
events can be events which provide information on 
conditions which existed at the balance-sheet date, 
resulting in adjustments to the financial statements 
or events which do not require such adjustments.  

No significant events have occurred after 31 
December 2023 which provide information on the 
conditions existing as at the balance-sheet date.



• 

• 

•
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EPRA earnings 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

IFRS earnings NOK mill. (2,348.1)          295.9                

Adjustments to calculate EPRA Earnings:

 Change in market value of inv. property and rental guarantee NOK mill. 3,150.3           154.7                

 Change in market value of financial derivative instruments NOK mill. 3.9                      (172.2)              

Share of profit from JVs 1 NOK mill. 55.1                   (35.2)                 

 Income tax NOK mill. (513.4)              100.4                

EPRA earnings NOK mill. 347.7                343.6                

Average outstanding shares (million) Mill. shares 643.6                643.6                

EPRA Earnings per share NOK 0.54                   0.53                   

http://www.epra.com/


EPRA Net Reinstatement Value (NRV) 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

IFRS equity NOK mill. 10,411.6        12,562.1        

Revaluation of investments made in JVs NOK mill. 1,061.9           1,119.3           

Net Asset Value (NAV) at fair value NOK mill. 11,473.5        13,681.4        

Deferred tax on properties and financial instruments NOK mill. 1,531.6           2,077.1           

Net fair value on financial derivatives NOK mill. (141.4)              (145.3)              

Net Reinstatement Value (NRV) NOK mill. 12,863.6        15,613.2        

Outstanding shares at period end (million) Mill. shares 643.6                643.6                

NRV per share (NOK) NOK 19.99                24.26                

EPRA Net Tangible Assets (NTA) 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

IFRS equity NOK mill. 10,411.6        12,562.1        

Revaluation of investments made in JVs NOK mill. 1,061.9           1,119.3           

Net Asset Value (NAV) at fair value NOK mill. 11,473.5        13,681.4        

Reversal deferred tax liability as per balance sheet NOK mill. 1,360.5           1,893.3           

Adjustment for estimated fair value of deferred tax 2 NOK mill. (25.2)                 (19.7)                 

Net fair value on financial derivatives NOK mill. (141.4)              (145.3)              

Net Tangible Assets (NTA) NOK mill. 12,667.4        15,409.7        

Outstanding shares at period end (million) Mill. shares 643.6                643.6                

NTA per share (NOK) NOK 19.68                23.94                



EPRA Net Disposal Value (NDV) 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

IFRS equity NOK mill. 10,411.6        12,562.1        

Revaluation of investments made in JVs NOK mill. 1,061.9           1,119.3           

Net Asset Value (NAV) at fair value NOK mill. 11,473.5        13,681.4        

Fair value adjustment of financial liabilities, net of tax 3 NOK mill. 11.5                   2.0                      

Net Disposal Value (NDV) NOK mill. 11,485.0        13,683.4        

Outstanding shares at period end (million) Mill. shares 643.6                643.6                

NDV per share (NOK) NOK 17.85                21.26                

EPRA Net Initial Yield 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Investment property, wholly owned NOK mill. 23,893.7        25,201.0        

Investment property, share of JVs NOK mill. 12.3                   10.4                   

Total property portfolio NOK mill. 23,906.0        25,211.4        

Less projects and land and developments 4 NOK mill. (3.3)                    -                      

Completed management portfolio NOK mill. 23,902.8        25,211.4        

Allowance for estimated purchasers’ cost NOK mill. 107.0                101.5                

Gross up completed management portfolio valuation NOK mill. 24,009.8        25,312.9        

12 months rolling rent, including share of JVs NOK mill. 1,295.5           1,136.8           

Estimated ownership cost NOK mill. (99.7)                 (90.8)                 

Annualised net rents NOK mill. 1,195.8           1,045.9           

Rent free periods or other lease incentives NOK mill. 19.8                   25.3                   

Topped up net annualised net rents NOK mill. 1,215.6           1,071.3           

EPRA NIY (net initial yield) Per cent 4.98                   4.13                   

EPRA "topped-up" NIY (net initial yield) Per cent 5.06                   4.23                   



 

EPRA Vacancy Rate 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Market rent vacant areas 5 NOK mill. 58.1                   64.7                   

Total market rent5 NOK mill. 1,507.9           1,293.2           

EPRA vacancy rate Per cent 3.85                   5.01                   

EPRA Cost Ratios 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Operating costs NOK mill. (224.0)              (204.7)              

Share of joint venture expenses NOK mill. (1.4)                    (2.6)                    

EPRA cost (including direct vacancy cost) NOK mill. (225.4)              (207.3)              

Direct vacancy cost NOK mill. 25.5                   24.9                   

EPRA cost (excluding direct vacancy cost) NOK mill. (199.9)              (182.4)              

Gross rental income less ground rent NOK mill. 1,109.6           1,014.4           

Share of joint ventures NOK mill. 0.5                      0.7                      

Total gross rental income less ground rent NOK mill. 1,110.1           1,015.2           

EPRA cost ratio (including direct vacancy cost) Per cent 20.30                20.42                

EPRA cost ratio (excluding direct vacancy cost) Per cent 18.01                17.96                



Group as 

reported
Share of JV6 Combined

Group as 

reported
Share of JV6 Combined

Bond loans NOK mill. 10,177.5                -                             10,177.5                9,582.1                   -                             9,582.1                   

Bank/Other loans NOK mill. 3,810.9                   3,019.4                   6,830.3                   2,603.6                   3,641.9                   6,245.5                   

Net payables NOK mill. 436.2                       320.1                       756.4                       -                             570.9                       570.9                       

Cash and bank deposits NOK mill. (325.6)                      (102.4)                      (428.0)                      (185.1)                      (254.5)                      (439.6)                      

Net debt NOK mill. 14,099.0                3,237.0                   17,336.0                12,000.6                3,958.3                   15,958.9                

Investment properties NOK mill. 23,893.7                12.3                          23,906.0                25,201.0                10.4                          25,211.3                

Properties held for sale7
NOK mill. -                             5,402.3                   5,402.3                   -                             6,277.8                   6,277.8                   

Net receivables NOK mill. -                             -                             -                             16.5                          -                             16.5                          

Total property value NOK mill. 23,893.7                5,414.7                   29,308.4                25,217.5                6,288.2                   31,505.7                

EPRA LTV Per cent 59.0                          59.2                          47.6                          50.7                          

31.12.2022

EPRA LTV Metric

31.12.2023
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Contact 

Norwegian Property ASA 

Bryggegata 3 

NO-0250 Oslo 

PO Box 1657, Vika 

NO-0120 Oslo 

Norway 

www.npro.no 

 

Reception 

Tel.: +47 22 83 40 20 

 

Support centre 

Tel.: +47 48 05 03 00 

E-mail: kundesenter@npro.no 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Investor relations 

Haavard Rønning 

CFO 

Tel.: +47 40 02 00 19 

E-mail: hr@npro.no 

 

Sales and marketing 

Ellen Cathrine Kobro 

EVP Sales and Marketing 

Tel.: +47 95 29 24 78 

E-mail: ek@npro.no 
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